# REGULATION OF THE GERMINAL CENTER REACTION BY T HELPER CELLS AND T REGULATORY CELLS

Hao Wu

Submitted to the faculty of the University Graduate School

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy

in the Department of Microbiology and Immunology

Indiana University

June 2016

Accepted by the Graduate Faculty, Indiana University, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Alexander L. Dent, Ph.D., Chair

**Doctoral Committee** 

Mark H. Kaplan, Ph.D.

April 11, 2016

Matthew J. Turner, M.D., Ph.D.

Baohua Zhou, Ph.D.

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Alexander Dent. None of this work would have been possible without his support. His insights and guidance underlie all of the work presented here. I am really grateful for his mentorship over the past five years.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Mark Kaplan, Dr. Baohua Zhou, Dr. Matthew Turner and Dr. Raymond Johnson for their advice, patience and encouragement. Every committee meeting was constructive and helpful.

Very special thanks go to my past and present lab members, Dr. Kristin Hollister, Dr. Deepali Sawant, Arpita Mondal, Paulla Teuscher, Hong Liu and Min Xie. I have been truly lucky to be part of Dent Lab. Their help and mental support kept me going through many challenging and tedious experiments.

I am also very grateful to the past and present members in Kaplan Lab, Zhou Lab and Sun Lab. I really enjoyed every presentation given at our group meeting. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Duy Pham, Dr. Olufolakemi Awe, Dr. Jianguang Du, Dr. Shuyu Yao and Byung-Hee Koh, who taught me experimental techniques and gave me advice.

Finally, my deepest gratitude goes to my family for their unconditional love and support. I would like to thank my parents who got me here. I would like to thank my wife, Dr. Linlin Xu and my son, William Wu. I feel extremely fortunate to have them in my life.

iii

#### Hao Wu

## REGULATION OF THE GERMINAL CENTER REACTION BY T HELPER CELLS AND T REGULATORY CELLS

Germinal Centers (GCs) are transient lymphoid structures that arise in lymphoid organs in response to T cell-dependent antigen. Within the GC, follicular T helper (TFH) cells promote GC B cell differentiation and in turn the proper antibody production to protect us from invading pathogens. We wished to study the regulation of this process by transcription factors STAT3 and Bcl6. STAT3 is important for both TFH cell differentiation and IL-4 production by Th2 cells. IL-4 is a major functional cytokine produced by TFH cells. To dissect the role of STAT3 in IL-4 production by TFH cells, we generated T cell-specific conditional STAT3 knockout mice (STAT3KO). Compared to WT mice, TFH cell differentiation in STAT3KO mice was partially impaired, both in spleen following sheep red blood cells (SRBC) immunization and in Peyer's patches (PPs). In STAT3KO mice, the numbers of splenic GC B cells were markedly decreased, whereas PP GC B cells developed at normal numbers and IgG1 class switching was greatly increased. Unexpectedly, we found that STAT3 intrinsically suppressed the expression of IL-4 and Bcl6 in TFH cells. Mechanistically, in vitro repression of IL-4 expression in CD4 T cells by Bcl6 required STAT3 function. Apart from TFH cells, the GC reaction is also controlled by regulatory follicular T helper (TFR) cells, a subset of Treg cells. To study the mechanism of how TFR cells regulate the GC reaction, we generated mice specifically lacking TFR cells

iv

by specifically deleting Bcl6 in Treg cells. Following immunization, these "Bcl6FC" mice developed normal TFH and GC B cell populations. However, Bcl6FC mice produced altered antigen-specific antibody responses, with reduced titers of IgG and increased IgA. Bcl6FC mice also developed IgG antibodies with significantly decreased avidity to antigen in an HIV-1 gp120 "prime-boost" vaccine model. Additionally, TFH cells from Bcl6FC mice produced higher levels of Interferon- $\gamma$ , IL-10 and IL-21. Loss of TFR cells therefore leads to highly abnormal TFH and GC B cell responses. Overall, our studies have uncovered unexpected regulatory roles of STAT3 in TFH cell function as well as the novel regulatory roles of TFR cells on cytokine production by TFH cells and on antibody production.

Alexander L. Dent, Ph.D., Chair

## **Table of Contents**

List of Figuresix
List of Abbreviationsxii
Chapter 1 - Introduction 1
1.1: Innate immune system1
1.2: Adaptive immune system and T helper cell subsets
1.3: GC
1.3.1: GC reaction
1.3.2: T-B cell interaction in the GC14
1.3.3: Antibody affinity maturation and class switching17
1.4: Bcl6 function in CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells
1.5: STAT3 function in CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells25
1.6: Goals of research
Chapter 2 - An inhibitory role for the transcription factor STAT3 in controlling
IL-4 and Bcl6 expression in follicular helper T cells
2.1: Introduction
2.2: Materials and Methods
2.3: Results
2.3.1: TFH cell development in the PPs can occur independent of STAT3,
and STAT3 regulates the cytokine response of TFH cells
2.3.2: STAT3 is required for acute TFH cell development in the spleen and
represses IL-4 expression by TFH cells

2.3.3: Intrinsic effects of STAT3 on TFH cell function	49
2.3.4: Control of Bcl6 repressive activity by STAT3	65
2.4: Discussion.	.69
Chapter 3 - Follicular regulatory T cells repress cytokine production by	
follicular helper T cells and optimize IgG responses in mice	74
3.1: Introduction	.74
3.2: Materials and Methods.	.76
3.3: Results	.79
3.3.1: Characterization of TFH and TFR cell populations	79
3.3.2: Loss of TFR cells does not lead to an increased TFH cell population	
in Bcl6FC mice.	.88
3.3.3: Loss of TFR cells does not expand the GC B-cell population but the	
antibody response is altered	96
3.3.4: Loss of TFR cells decreases the avidity of antigen-specific antibodies	
in an HIV immunization model	.99
3.3.5: TFR cells regulate anti-dsDNA IgA antibody production in pristine	
induced lupus model 1	105
3.4: Discussion 1	111
Chapter 4 - STAT3 is important for Follicular Regulatory T cell differentiation . 1	117
4.1: Introduction1	117
4.2: Materials and Methods 1	119
4.3: Results	121

4.3.1: STAT3 deficiency in T cells results in a decrease of TFH cells and
a block of TFR cell differentiation 121
4.3.2: The differentiation defect in TFR cell is Treg cell intrinsic
4.3.3: Loss of TFR cells does not lead to an increased TFH cell population
in STAT3FC mice128
4.3.4: Loss of TFR cells does not lead to an increased GC B cell
population in STAT3FC mice but increases the generation of
antigen-specific IgG antibodies131
4.3.5: STAT3 function in Treg cells is also required for TFR cell
differentiation in Peyer's patches137
4.4: Discussion
Chapter 5 – Conclusions and future directions 146
5.1: Conclusions
5.1.1: STAT3 intrinsically inhibit IL-4 and Bcl6 expression in TFH cells 146
5.1.2: TFR cells repress cytokine production by TFH cells and optimize IgG
response147
5.1.3: STAT3 is indispensable for TFR cell differentiation
5.2: Future directions
5.2.1: Future directions for chapter 2151
5.2.2: Future directions for chapter 3 and 4152
Reference
Curriculum Vitae

## List of Figures

Figure 1.T helper cell subsets
Figure 2. The formation of GC in the lymph node13
Figure 3. Delivery of the effector TFH cell function to cognate GC B cells 16
Figure 4. Affinity maturation of the antibody
Figure 5. DNA binding and recruitment of co-repressors of the Bcl6 protein 24
Figure 6. STAT3 signaling pathway28
Figure 7. STAT3 is not required for normal TFH cell or GC B cell
frequencies in the Peyer's patches, but regulates IgG1 class switching
Figure 8. Deregulated cytokine production in STAT3-deficient TFH cells in
the PP43
Figure 9. Examples of cytokine staining and gates showing staining controls 45
Figure 10. Altered gene expression in STAT3-deficient TFH cells in the PP47
Figure 11. Delayed TFH cell responses in the spleen of STAT3KO mice after
immunization51
Figure 12. Weak GC B cell responses and antibody responses following
SRBC immunization when STAT3 is absent in T cell
Figure 13. STAT3 controls IL-4 expression in TFH cells under multiple
conditions55
Figure 14. Intrinsic defect of STAT3-deficient TFH cell development
Figure 15. TFH cell intrinsic regulation of transcription factors and cytokines
by STAT362

Figure 16. Increased proliferation and decreased cell death of
STAT3-deficient TFH cells64
Figure 17. Defective Suppression of IL-4 by Bcl6 in STAT3-deficient T cells 68
Figure 18. Bcl6, CD25 and TIGIT levels in various conventional and
regulatory T cell subsets
Figure 19. Histogram plots of Bcl6, CD25 and TIGIT staining in different of
Tconv and Treg subpopulations
Figure 20. TFR cells are enriched within TIGIT-high Treg cells
Figure 21. Loss of TFR cells in Bcl6FC mice following SRBC immunization91
Figure 22. Bcl6 maintains the survival of TFR cells
Figure 23. Loss of Bcl6 in Treg cells does not affect pre-TFH and TFH cell
differentiation
Figure 24. TFR cells do not regulate the size of GC B cell population, but
contribute to the generation of antigen-specific IgG antibodies by restraining
antigen-specific IgA antibodies
Figure 25. Decreased antibody avidity in the absence of TFR cells in the
DNA prime-protein boost gp120 vaccine model
Figure 26. TFR cells regulate the production of anti-gp120 IgA antibodies
in the DNA prime-protein boost gp120 vaccine model
Figure 27. TFR cells regulate the production of anti-dsDNA IgA antibodies in
Pristane-induced lupus model
Figure 28. TFR cells regulate IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10 and IL-21 production in TFH
cells

Figure 29. STAT3KO mice have impaired TFH and TFR cell responses
following SRBC immunization124
Figure 30. Intrinsic defect of STAT3-deficient TFH and TFR cell
differentiation127
Figure 31. Loss of TFR cells in STAT3FC mice does not affect the size of
TFH cell population after SRBC immunization130
Figure 32. Loss of TFR cells in STAT3FC mice does not affect the size of
GC B cell population after SRBC immunization134
Figure 33. TFR cells regulate the production of anti-SRBC IgG1 and
anti-SRBC IgG2b136
Figure 34. In Peyer's patches, Treg cell specific STAT3 deletion leads to
the loss of TFR cells and does not have an effect on TFH, GC B cells,
as well as $IgG1^+$ and $IgA^+$ GC B cells
Figure 35. Schematic representation of the regulation of GC reaction by
TFR cells

## List of Abbreviations

AID	Activation-induced deaminase
APC	Antigen presenting cell
Bcl6	B cell lymphoma 6
Bcl6FC	Bcl6 <sup>fl/fl</sup> Foxp3 <sup>cre</sup> mice
BCR	B cell receptor
Blimp1	B lymphocyte-induced maturation
	protein-1
ВоуЈ	B6.SJL-Prprc <sup>a</sup> Pepc <sup>b</sup> /BoyJ
CD40L	CD40 ligand
CXCL13	C-X-C motif chemokine 13
CXCR5	C-X-C motif receptor 5
DC	Dedritic cell
dpi	Day post immunization
Fas	TNF receptor superfamily member 6
FDC	Follicular dendritic cell
GATA3	GATA binding protein 3
GC	Germinal center
HIES	Hyper-IgE syndrome
ICOS	Inducible T-cell costimulator
ICS	Intracellular staining
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma

lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IRF4	Interferon regulatory factor 4
JAK	Janus kinase
MFI	Mean fluorescent intensity
мнс	Major histocompatibility compelx
OVA	Ovalbumin
PD-1	Programmed cell death protein 1
рМНСІ	MHC I-peptide complex
рМНСІІ	MHC II-peptide complex
PP	Peyer's Patch
QPCR	Quantitative RT-PCR
RORα	Retinoic acid receptor-related orphan
	receptors alpha
RORy	Retinoic acid receptor-related orphan
	receptors gamma
RV	Retrovirus
SAP	SLAM-associated protein
SLAM	Signaling lymphocyte activation
	molecule
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SRBC	Sheep red blood cell
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of

	transcription
STAT3FC	STAT3 <sup>fl/fl</sup> Foxp3 <sup>cre</sup> mice
STAT3KO	CD4-cre STAT3 <sup>fl/fl</sup> mice
TCR	T cell receptor
TFH	Follicular T helper cell
TFR	Regulatory follicular T helper cell
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
Th	T helper cell
Treg	T regulatory cell
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin

#### **Chapter 1 - Introduction**

#### 1.1: Innate immune system.

In vertebrates, including human and mouse, the immune system can be divided into two cooperative components: innate immune system and adaptive immune system. The immune system protects us from bacterial, viral and fungal infections. The innate immune system is an evolutionarily ancient and universal host defense mechanism [1]. It is present in all multicellular organisms including plants and insects. The activation of the innate immune system relies on the recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns by pattern recognition receptors expressed on the surface or in the cytoplasm of innate immune cells [2]. The innate immune system has two main functions [3]. First, it is the front line of host defense providing the rapid initial response to control and eliminate infections. Second, the innate immune system can activate and modulate adaptive immunity through antigen presentation, cell-cell contact and secretion of cytokines.

The innate immune system is made of multiple components. The first and outmost line of innate defense is the anatomical barriers. Skin and mucosal surfaces in gastrointestinal and respiratory tracts are crucial for protecting us from the infection of pathogenic microbes. The second line of innate defense is the innate immune cells, mostly derived from the common myeloid progenitor cells [4], including dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, monocytes, mast cells,

neutrophils, eosinophils and basophils. Working together, these cells help protect us from the majority of the infections.

Depending on the immune environment, monocytes can further differentiate into DCs or macrophages [5, 6] which are professional antigen presenting cells (APCs). They can engulf the invading bacteria or virus infected cells by phagocytosis, then present the antigen to the T cells to initiate the adaptive immune response. They function as messengers between innate and adaptive immunity.

Neutrophils, eosinophils, mast cells and basophils are granulocytes, each of them having distinct granules in their cytoplasm. Neutrophils, the most abundant type of granulocyte, guickly migrate towards the infection site by sensing the chemical gradients of molecules such as interleukin-8 (IL-8) and Leukotriene. Neutrophils can phagocytose microbes or particles that are opsonized by antibodies. In addition, neutrophils secrete cytokines and antimicrobial contents by degranulation, which in turn recruit other immune cell types to amplify the inflammatory response [7]. Granules in eosinophils contain many chemical mediators, such as peroxidase, ribonuclease, leukotrienes, prostaglandin, growth factors and inflammatory cytokines which make eosinophils capable of combating against parasitic and viral infections [8]. Even though mast cells reside in the tissue whereas basophils are in the circulation, these two cell types are very similar in morphology and function. Both cell types have granules containing histamine and heparin which are ready to be released upon activation. Degranulation of mast cells and basophils can be activated by

the binding of surface receptors to the immunoglobulin E (IgE)-allergen complexes. Therefore, mast cells and basophils play critical roles in allergy, asthma and many other allergic diseases [9, 10].

### 1.2: Adaptive immune system and T helper cell subsets.

Since surface receptors like pattern recognition receptors and other protein molecules involved in the innate immunity are encoded by the germline, the innate immune system is fixed, rigid and not adaptable [3]. Pathogens develop ways to evade it. Lymphocytes, T and B cells, which comprise the adaptive immune response, overcome this disadvantage with the specificity of T cell receptors (TCR) and B cell receptors (BCR). During the early stage of lymphocyte development, genetic recombination of DNA encoded gene segments generate TCRs and BCRs in a quasi-random manner mediated by the recombination activating genes 1 and 2 (Rag 1 and Rag2) [11]. At the same time, T cells in the thymus and B cells in the bone marrow undergo positive and negative selections so that they can recognize foreign but not self antigens. This mechanism creates an extremely diverse repertoire of T and B cells that are able to recognize millions of different foreign antigens.

The two main subpopulations of T cells are CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, or cytotoxic T cells are specialized to kill cancer cells and cells infected with intracellular pathogens. Naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells require the TCR recognition of the specific antigen peptide presented in the major histocompatibility complex I (MHC I) molecules by APCs and the co-stimulatory signaling to get activated. All

nucleated cells express MHC I, giving the cells ability to present pathogenic antigen peptide to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. During infections, once the TCRs on the activated cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recognize the MHC I-peptide complex (pMHCI) on the infected cells, the targeted cells will be destroyed.

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, or T helper cells, provide help to other immune cells such as CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, B cells and APCs. Similar to the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation, naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells get activated by APCs through the TCR recognition of MHC II-peptide complex (pMHCII). Depending on the type of infection, APCs can produce varieties of cytokines and in turn induce CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell differentiation into several subsets, type 1 T helper (Th1), Th2, Th9, Th17, follicular T helper (TFH) and regulatory T helper (Treg) cells (Fig. 1) [12]. Each subset has its own differentiation program driven by its specific master transcription factor.

Th1 cells are generated during infection with intracellular pathogens such as viruses and bacteria. IL-12 promotes Th1 cell differentiation by activating signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4) signaling [12]. STAT4 further induces the expression of the Th1-master transcription factor, Tbet. STAT4 and Tbet work together to promote the differentiation of Th1 cells and to drive the expression of Th1 genes, such as interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), which is a key cytokine for virus clearance. However, uncontrolled Th1 cell response can result in chronic inflammation.

Th2 cells mediate the immune response to large extracellular pathogens. Th2 cell differentiation requires the presence of IL-4 and IL-2 or thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) [13]. IL-4 induces STAT6-dependent expression of GATA

binding protein 3 (GATA3), which is the master transcription factor of Th2 cells. GATA3 activates IL-5 and IL-13 expression, while suppressing the differentiation of other T helper cell subsets [14]. In addition, STAT5 signaling downstream of IL-2 or TSLP can cooperate with GATA3 to promote Th2 cell differentiation by enhancing IL-4 production [14].

Th9 cells secrete high levels of IL-9 and IL-10. In the presence of transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) and IL-4, PU.1 and interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) are activated respectively which subsequently promote the production of IL-9 [15]. Th2 and Th9 cells are closely related, however, Th9 cells have limited ability to produce IL-4, IL-5 or IL-13. Th9 cells are also important for host defense against parasitic infections [16]. On the other hand, both Th2 and Th9 cells contribute to the onset and progression of allergic diseases, such as asthma [17].

At mucosal surfaces, Th17 cells play an important role in pathogen clearance to protect the mucosal barriers. TGF- $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-21 drive the differentiation of Th17 cells [18]. IL-6 and IL-21 activate STAT3 signaling which further up-regulates the expression of retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptors gamma (ROR $\gamma$ ) and alpha (ROR $\alpha$ ), the master transcription factors of Th17 cells. The main effector cytokines of Th17 cells are IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21 and IL-22. Th17 cells are associated with autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis and psoriasis [19].

TFH cells are specialized to provide "help" to B cells to mount effective antibody response against pathogens. TFH cell differentiation is a multistep

process and depends on the expression of the master transcription factor B cell lymphoma 6 (Bcl6) [20]. At early stage of the TFH cell differentiation, in the T cell zone of the secondary lymphoid organs, a small population of activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells with the highest specific binding of pMHCII on APCs expresses Bcl6 and, the chemokine receptor, C-X-C motif receptor 5 (CXCR5). Depending on the cytokines present during the T cell response, STAT1, STAT3 or STAT4 can activate Bcl6 expression. STAT3, downstream of IL-6 and IL-21 signaling, is the most important one [21]. The expression of CXCR5 is important for the migration of pre-TFH cells towards the B cell follicle where C-X-C motif chemokine 13 (CXCL13), the ligand of CXCR5, is highly expressed. In addition, inducible T-cell costimulator (ICOS) signaling is critical for up-regulation and maintenance of Bcl6 expression [22]. Besides Bcl6, the transcription regulation network of TFH cell differentiation includes other transcription factors, such as achaete-scute homologue 2 (Ascl2) [23], Interferon Responsive Factor 4 (IRF4) [24], basic leucine zipper ATF-like Transcription Factor (Batf) [25] and v-maf avian musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog (cMaf) [26]. Once in the B cell follicle, TFH cells are essential to promote germinal center (GC) formation. CD40L on TFH cells stimulates CD40 signaling and cytokine signaling, such as IL-21 and IL-4, to GC B cells for their expansion and further differentiation into high-affinity antigen-specific antibody producing plasma cells. At the same time, GC B cells displaying the pMHCII on the surface maintain the fate of TFH cells by providing pivotal TCR and co-stimulatory signaling. However, an abnormal TFH cell response can give rise to the production of autoreactive antibody which

is the hallmark of several autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), etc [27]. More details of the GC reaction will be discussed in the next section.

Treg cells are important for the maintenance of immune cell homeostasis including tolerance to self-antigens and suppression of exacerbated inflammatory immune responses. Treg cells can be broadly classified into natural and induced Treg cells[28]. Natural Treg cells develop in the thymus and emigrate into the periphery. Induced Treg cells develop in the periphery at gut and airway mucosa in response to food and environmental antigens, during chronic inflammation immune responses, as well as in autoimmune diseases. Regardless of the origin, Forkhead box P3 (Foxp3) is the master transcription factor for the differentiation of Treg cells. There are several molecular mechanisms by which Treg cells exert their regulatory function, cell contact mediated regulation via co-stimulatory molecules, cytolytic activity as well as secretion of immunosuppressive cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  [29].



## Figure 1.T helper cell subsets.

During an immune response, naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells receive the activation signaling from DCs via TCR signaling, co-stimulatory signaling (CD80/CD86 and CD28 interactions), and cytokine signaling. Specific cytokine signaling activates the downstream master transcription factors to initiate and maintain the differentiation of corresponding T helper cell subset. Each subset secretes its own signature cytokines and exerts certain immune function to protect us from invading pathogens. However, uncontrolled T helper cell responses can lead to immunological pathologies, such as inflammation and autoimmunity.

## 1.3: GC.

## 1.3.1: GC reaction.

GCs are temporary lymphoid structures within the spleen and lymph nodes that form during T cell-dependent immune responses. The main function of GCs is to produce long lived plasma cells that can secrete high-affinity antigen-specific antibodies [30]. The general cellular process of GC reaction is summarized in Fig. 2. The timing of the GC reactions depends on the many factors, such as the types or doses of pathogen, antigen and adjuuant. Briefly, on day 0 of GC reaction, T cells and B cells recognize their cognate antigen in the T cell zone and B cell follicle, respectively. On day 1-2, activated T and B cells migrate to the T-B border area and start to interact.  $CD4^{+}$  T cells with high TCR signaling strength preferentially get into the TFH cell differentiation program [31]. T cells start to express CXCR5 which guides them into B cell follicle. In the B cell follicle, there is a network of follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) which capture immune complex as that are recognized by the antigen-specific B cells [32]. After the activation of B cells, some antigen-specific B cells differentiate into early plasmablasts, whereas other antigen-specific B cells migrate from the T-B border back into the B cell follicle and initiate the early GC on day 4 [33]. With help from TFH cells, the GC rapidly grows between day 5 and 6. On day 7 of the GC reaction, the mature GC is established, as the dark zones and light zones are formed. The light zone contains FDCs, TFH cells and GC B cells, and is the place where the B cells with the high-affinity BCRs get selected. The dark zone mainly contains densely packed GC B cells, and is the place where the BCRs

undergo extensive somatic hypermutation for further antibody maturation and class switching [30].



## Figure 2. The formation of GC in the lymph node.

GCs develop dynamically after the activation of T and B cells. CD40L,

CD40 ligand; DC, dendritic cell; FDC, follicular dendritic cell.

### **1.3.2:** T-B cell interaction in the GC.

Cognate contact (T cells and B cells recognize the same antigen) between antigen-specific T cells and pMHCII-expressing B cells is important for both the TFH cell differentiation and the development of effective B cell immunity. The T-B cell interaction involves several cell surface molecules (Fig. 3). The members of the Signaling Lymphocyte Activation Molecule (SLAM) family of receptors, particularly CD84, play an important role in the formation of prolonged T-B cell interactions. Both in human and mice, the SLAM mediated SLAM-Associated Protein (SAP) signaling is critical for TFH cell differentiation via up-regulation of Bcl6 [34]. The CD28 family member ICOS is critical for the initiation and maintenance of TFH cell differentiation. ICOS deficiency in both human and mice causes severe defect in TFH cell development, GC formation and antibody production [35]. TFH cells highly express another CD28 family member, programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) which is a co-inhibitory molecule. PD-1 negatively regulates the number and function of TFH cells, and in turn helps prevent autoimmune diseases, such as SLE [36]. CD40-CD40 ligand (CD40L) interaction is crucial for the B cell help function of TFH cells. Defect of CD40 signaling leads to the failure of GC B cell differentiation [37]. In human, defective CD40 signaling causes hyper-IgM syndrome. These patients have decreased levels of serum IgG and IgA leading to increased susceptibility to infections.



## Figure 3. Delivery of the effector TFH cell function to cognate GC B cells.

This figure describes the surface molecule interactions between TFH cells and GC B cells as well as the effect of cytokines produced by TFH cells on the antibody class switching in the GC.

### **1.3.3:** Antibody affinity maturation and class switching.

During the course of GC reaction, the affinity of BCRs to the antigens increases dramatically. This process is called antibody affinity maturation (Fig. 4) which involves two interrelated processes, clonal selection and somatic hypermutation [38].

The default fate of GC B cells is cell death via apoptosis, due to the high level of TNF receptor superfamily member 6 (Tnfrsf6, also known as Fas) expression. The survival of GC B cells requires two major signals through the BCR and CD40 (Fig. 3-4). GC B cell clones with different levels of affinity against the antigens compete with each other for the antigens captured on the FDCs and CD40 signaling from CD40L on TFH cells. The higher affinity the BCRs are, the more antigens the GC B cells internalize and present on the surface to TFH cells [39]. Therefore high-affinity GC B cells can get more "help" from TFH cells to survive, whereas low-affinity GC B cells, without TFH cell help, undergo cell death. High-affinity GC B cells subsequently undergo cell proliferation as well as somatic hypermutation of their immunoglobulin variable-region genes mediated by Activation-Induced Deaminase (AID) [39]. The mutations change the binding affinity of the resultant BCRs to the antigens. Mutated B cell clones go back and experience several cycles of further selection and somatic hypermutation. In this way, the affinity of BCRs gradually increases. When BCR affinity reaches a certain threshold, GC B cells then differentiate into plasma cells or memory B cells with the capability to produce high-affinity antibodies [40].

An antibody is a secreted form of the BCR. It consists of two heavy chains and two light chains joined to form a "Y" shaped molecule. It has two variable regions in the upper tips of the "Y" shape which give antibody the specificity of antigen binding. The constant region in the heavy chain defines the class or isotype of the antibody. There are several isotypes of antibodies including IgD, IgM, IgG, IgE and IgA. IgA and IgG each have sub-isotypes. Different antibody isotypes function in different locations and have different biological properties. For example, IgA is abundant at the mucosal areas, such as gut and respiratory tract. IgA is important for the homeostasis of the microbiota in the gut and the antiviral responses in the respiratory tract [41]. Naive B cells only express IgM and IgD on the surface. After B cell activation, B cells lose the expression of IgD and change the IgM to other isotypes through class switching. The class switching to specific isotypes can be regulated by the cytokine produced by TFH cells (Fig. 3) [42]. IL-4 can induce isotype switching to IgG1 or IgE; IFN-y can induce isotype switching to IgG2a; IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  can induce isotype switching to IgA.



## Figure 4. Affinity maturation of the antibody.

Both high- and low-affinity GC B cells bind to the antigens deposited on the FDCs that give both cells enough BCR signals to survive [39, 43]. However the number of TFH cells is limited in the GC. B cells with high-affinity BCRs capture more antigens to present on the surface. Therefore high-affinity GC B cells have an advantage over low-affinity GC B cells in the competition for the limited TFH cell help, such as CD40 signals. Selected GC B cells then undergo several rounds of proliferation, somatic hypermutation of their immunoglobulin variable-region genes and affinity selection. Finally, GC B cells exit from the GC and differentiate into plasma cells producing high-affinity antibodies. CR2, complement receptor 2; FcRII, low-affinity Fc receptor for immunoglobulin.

## **1.4:** Bcl6 function in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

Bcl6 is a 95 kDa protein and a member of the BTB/POZ/zinc finger family of transcription factors [44]. The Bcl6 protein includes an N-terminal BTB/POZ domain, three PEST domains in the middle portion and six C-terminal zinc finger (ZF) DNA binding motifs (Fig. 5). It functions as a repressor of transcription. The BTB domain of Bcl6 can recruit nuclear receptor co-repressor 1(NCOR1), NCOR2 and Bcl6 interacting co-repressor (BCOR). The middle region of Bcl6 can recruit another co-repressor, metastasis associated 1 family member 3 (MTA3) [44]. Bcl6 recruits different co-repressors to repress different target genes. The transcription repression function of Bcl6 is mainly through direct binding to the genomic locus by its ZF motifs. Alternatively, Bcl6 also can inhibit gene expression indirectly by interacting with other transcription factors, such as Tbet. In Th1 cells, Bcl6 is recruited by Tbet, which binds to the DNA, to inhibit SCOS1, SCOS3 and Tcf7 to promote Th1 cell development [45].

TFH cell differentiation requires its master transcription factor, Bcl6 [46]. Two days after T cell activation in vivo, T cells up-regulate Bcl6 and subsequently CXCR5. The up-regulation of Bcl6 requires DCs mediated antigen presentation as well as cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-12. Then they migrate to the T-B border and become TFH cells. How Bcl6 promotes TFH cell differentiation is not clear. One possible mechanism is that Bcl6 promotes gene expression through suppression of microRNAs. Bcl6 was shown to suppress mir-17~92 clusters to promote CXCR5 expression [47]. However, new evidence indicates that mir-

17~92 does not inhibit but actually induces TFH cell differentiation, which makes this microRNA cluster an unlikely target of Bcl6 suppression [48].

Bcl6 can antagonize Th1, Th2, Th9 and Th17 cell differentiation by suppressing the expression and activities of Tbet, GATA3, IL-9 and RORγ, respectively [46, 49]. In this way, Bcl6 can ensure TFH fate during T cell differentiation. In addition, Bcl6 can suppress another transcription repressor B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 (Blimp1), which is important for the differentiation of non-TFH effector T cells such as Th1 cells [50]. Blimp1 is downstream of STAT5 signaling, suppresses Bcl6 expression, and in turn inhibits TFH cell development [51].


## Figure 5. DNA binding and recruitment of co-repressors of the Bcl6 protein.

Schematic representation of the Bcl6 protein includes BTB/POZ domain, PEST domain and ZFs domain. The BTB/POZ domain and PEST domain are involved in the recruitment of several co-repressors. The ZFs domain gives Bcl6 the DNA binding specificity.

### **1.5: STAT3 function in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.**

Cytokine signaling is critical for T helper cell activation and differentiation into effector T cells. JAK (Janus kinase) /STAT signaling pathway is one of the major pathways downstream of cytokine receptor signaling. Upon cytokines binding to their own receptors, the STATs get activated and translocate into the nucleus, promoting the expression of target genes and involved in the chromatin epigenetic regulation.

In CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, STAT3 can be downstream of several cytokines, such as IL-6, IL-10, IL-21, IL-23 and IL-27 (Fig. 6) [52]. It is important for the generation of efficient cellular and humoral immune responses, as revealed from studies of STAT3-deficient human and mice. The human disease, hyper-IgE syndrome (HIES) is caused by STAT3 mutations. Those patients suffer from infectious susceptibility to fungi and virus, poor antibody responses, elevated serum IgE level, eczema and many other non-immunological defects [53].

STAT3 signaling downstream of IL-6, IL-21 and IL-23 is important for the differentiation and function of Th17 cells by inducing the transcription factors RORγ and RORα, as well as the effector cytokines IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-21 [18]. IL-17 cytokines are critical for the clearance of fungal infection. Due to the defect in the production of IL-17 cytokines, HIES patients are very susceptible to mucocutaneous fungal infections [53]. Elevated IgE production in HIES suggests enhanced Th2 response. However, STAT3 is required for murine Th2 cell differentiation both in vitro and vivo [54]. STAT3-deficiency reduces STAT6 binding to GATA3, cMaf and Batf which are the key transcription factors for Th2

cell differentiation. TFH cells provide help to B cells to produce high-affinity antibodies against invading pathogens. STAT3 is also critical for TFH cell differentiation [55, 56]. However, in a mouse model, STAT1 actually can compensate for the STAT3-deficiency in TFH cell differentiation [57]. Both in human and mice, STAT3-deficiency causes severe defect in the generation of effective antigen-specific antibodies [21, 55]. Since IL-4 is an important B cell help cytokine produced by TFH cells and STAT3 is required for IL-4 production in Th2 cells [54], we want to further study the role of STAT3 in the regulation of IL-4 production in TFH cells.



## Figure 6. STAT3 signaling pathway.

Cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-21 bind to their specific cytokine receptors and activate the receptor-associated JAKs. JAKs phosphorylate the cytoplasmic tyrosine residues of the cytokine receptors which recruit STAT3. JAKs further phosphorylate recruited STAT3. Once STAT3 is phosphorylated, it dimerizes with itself or other STATs. Then the STAT3 dimer translocates into the nucleus where it binds to the consensus sites within the target promoters, promoting gene expression.

### 1.6: Goals of research.

IL-4 is important for the survival, proliferation and affinity maturation of GC B cells [58]. It can drive the class switching of IgG1 and IgE and is strongly implicated in atopic and allergic disease [59]. In the GC, TFH cells are the major producers of IL-4 that contribute to antibody production. The underlying molecular mechanisms of the regulation of IL-4 expression in TFH cells remain largely unknown. Stritesky et al [54] showed that STAT3 is required for the IL-4 production in Th2 cells. TFH cell differentiation and B cell help function requires STAT3 [55]. However, the role of STAT3 in IL-4 production by TFH cells is not clear and it is a question of particular interest.

Additionally, a subpopulation of Treg cells in the GC was discovered that appear to act as suppressors of TFH and GC B cells [60-62]. Besides expressing Foxp3, these regulatory follicular T cells or "TFR" cells express CXCR5, ICOS, and PD-1, and depend on Bcl6 for differentiation and localization to the B cell follicle. In vitro and in vivo studies have shown that TFR cells can suppress TFHand GC B-cell proliferation and can regulate GC B cell differentiation as well [60-64].

However how TFR cells affect antibody production is still unresolved. Several studies have shown that TFR cells repress antibody production [60-64]. Furthermore, Linterman et al demonstrated that TFR cells control the outgrowth of non-antigen-specific GC B cells and helped maintain high titers of high-affinity antigen-specific antibodies [61]. Therefore we used two mouse models, Bcl6

Treg conditional knockout mice and STAT3 Treg conditional knockout mice, to study the precise mechanisms by which TFR cells control antibody responses.

# Chapter 2 - An inhibitory role for the transcription factor STAT3 in controlling IL-4 and Bcl6 expression in follicular helper T cells

### 2.1: Introduction.

In the course of an immune response, CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cells differentiate into unique effector lineages that promote different immune responses via the secretion of specialized effector cytokines. TFH cells are a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell lineage whose identified function is to promote formation of GCs and select B cell clones that produce high-affinity antibodies (reviewed in [42, 65-68]). TFH cells are typically identified as CD4<sup>+</sup> CXCR5<sup>+</sup> and PD-1<sup>high</sup> T cells, and have an activated T cell phenotype but are CD25<sup>neg</sup>. TFH cells control the outcome of the GC B cell response, and are critical for memory B cell and plasma cell development. TFH cells produce IL-21, a cytokine that potently promotes B cell activation and antibody secretion. While TFH cells are required for the production of high-affinity antibodies, excessive numbers of TFH cells can promote autoimmunity by helping B cells produce self-reactive antibodies [69-71]. The proper regulation of TFH cell differentiation is therefore essential for effective antibody responses and preventing development of autoimmune disease.

The Bcl6 transcriptional repressor protein is up-regulated in TFH cells and is considered a master regulator for the TFH subset [47, 72, 73]. STAT factors are upstream of Bcl6 in TFH cell differentiation and receive cytokine signals to bind to the Bcl6 promoter and induce high levels of Bcl6 expression. Specifically, activated CD4 T cells exposed to the cytokines IL-6, IL-21 and IL-12 activate

STAT3 and STAT4 to promote TFH cell differentiation via up-regulation of Bcl6 [42, 65, 74-77]. STAT1, activated by IL-6 or type I IFN can also promote Bcl6 transcription and TFH cell differentiation [78, 79], although in certain contexts, type I IFN can inhibit TFH cell differentiation [56].

Although STAT3 is not required for early T cell development [80, 81], STAT3 plays many important roles in T cell immune responses, particularly in the development of the pro-inflammatory Th17 cells [82-86] and formation of T cell memory [87, 88]. Furthermore, STAT3 is required for Th17-mediated colitis, as well as regulatory control of colitis [89, 90]. Mutations in STAT3 can lead to disease termed HIES, which is characterized by elevated IgE, repeated infections, chronic dermatitis and lack of Th17 cells [91]. HIES has a complex pathology and aspects of the disease appear to be mediated by non-lymphoid and even non-hematopoietic cells [92].

Two previous studies on the role of STAT3 in TFH cell differentiation following lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection revealed that TFH cell development was not strictly dependent on STAT3 function [56, 79]. Thus, LCMV induced a delayed [79] or weakened [56] TFH cell response in CD4-cre STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> conditional KO mice, where STAT3 was deleted specifically in T cells. Ray et al [56] revealed that part of the defect in TFH cell development in the LCMV system was due to the failure to properly up-regulate Bcl6 in the absence of STAT3, a defect that was partially due to heightened sensitivity to Type I IFN signaling in STAT3-deficient CD4 T cells [56]. Additionally, STAT3-deficient CD4 T cells responding to LCMV developed a strong Th1 phenotype [56], indicating

that STAT3 has an important role in repressing Th1 cell development. However, a major question unaddressed by these studies was whether the findings observed for STAT3 and TFH cells in a LCMV infection model were broadly applicable to the role of STAT3 in TFH cell responses in other immune contexts. We therefore used CD4-cre STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> conditional knockout mice to examine TFH cell differentiation in the gut immune response, in PPs, as well as with immunization with a strong inducer of the germinal center response, SRBC. Our data contrasts with the Ray et al study on STAT3 in TFH cells on the control of Bcl6 and IL-4 expression by STAT3 [56], and thus provides important new insights into the role of STAT3 in Bcl6 expression and TFH cell differentiation.

### 2.2: Materials and Methods.

**Mice and immunizations.** STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice [56] were backcrossed to CD4cre transgenic mice and the C57BL/6 strain for at least six generations [54]. TCR-transgenic OT-II mice and B6.SJL-Prprc<sup>a</sup>Pepc<sup>b</sup>/BoyJ (BoyJ) mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (JAX). Control mice for CD4-cre STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> (STAT3KO) mice were litter-mate STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> (WT) mice. Mice were bred under specific pathogen-free conditions at the laboratory animal facility at IUSM and were handled according to protocols approved by the IUSM Animal Care and Use Committee. For SRBC immunization, mice were intraperitoneally (i.p.) injected with 1 x 10<sup>9</sup> SRBCs (Rockland Immunochemicals) and were sacrificed at the indicated day. For Ovalbumin (OVA; Sigma) immunization, 50 ug OVA was mixed with Imject Alum (Pierce), and the mixture was injected i.p.

**Cell culture and retrovirus transduction.** CD4<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> WT and STAT3KO OT-II T cells were isolated with the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> T cell isolation kit II (Miltenyi), then were activated with 1ug/ml OVA peptide (Anaspec) and spleenderived APCs for 3 days (one round) or 5 additional days (two rounds) under Th2 culture conditions: 40ng/ml IL-4 (Peprotech), 10ug/ml anti-IFN-γ and anti-IL-12 (BioXCell). After 3 or 8 days of culture, cells were collected for ICS as described below. For retroviral transduction, CD4<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> WT and STAT3KO T cells were activated with 1ug/ml anti-CD3, 2 ug/ml anti-CD28 and splenic APCs under Th2 condition. At 40h, cells were spin infected with control H2K<sup>k</sup>, Bcl6-H2K<sup>k</sup>expressing retroviruses. After spin infection, supernatant was removed and fresh Th2 condition medium with 10 U/ml rhIL-2 were added back to cell culture. After 3 days, cells were collected for ICS as described below.

**Flow cytometry reagents.** Anti-CXCR5 (2G8), anti-CD95 (Jo2), GL7 (GL7), anti-active Caspase3 (C92-605), anti-IL-4 (11B11) and anti-Bcl6 (K112-91) antibodies were from BD Biosciences. Fixable viability dye, AnnexinV detection kit, and anti-CD38, anti-IL-13 (eBio13A), anti-IL-21 (mhalx21), anti-GATA3 (TWAJ), and anti-Foxp3 (FJK-16s) antibodies were from eBioscience. Anti-CD4 (GK1.5), anti-B220 (RA3-6B2), anti-IgG1 (RMG1-1), anti-CD45.1 (A20), anti-PD-1 (29F.1A12), anti-IL-10 (JES5-16E3), anti-interferon-γ (XMG1.2) were from Biolegend.

**Cell staining for flow cytometry.** After red blood cell lysis, total spleen cells were incubated with anti-mouse CD16/CD32 (BioXcell) for 5 minutes at room temperature, followed by surface staining for the indicated markers. For

intracellular transcription factor staining, after surface markers were stained, cells were fixed and stained with antibodies against transcription factors by following Foxp3 fixation kit (eBioscience) instructions. Cell events were collected on an LSRII flow cytometer (Becton Dickonson).

Intracellular cytokine staining. Cells were stimulated with PMA (75ng/mL) plus ionomycin (1ug/mL) for 5 hours in DMEM cell culture medium, then fixed and stained for indicated cytokines as described [93]. Golgistop and Golgiplug (BD Biosciences) were used during the stimulation to inhibit cytokine secretion.

**Adoptive cell transfers and immunization.** CD4<sup>+</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup> MACS-purified WT and STAT3KO OT-II T cells were labeled with 5 μM Cell Tracer Violet (Life Technologies). 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells were injected i.v. per BoyJ recipient mice. After 18 hours, 50 ug Ovalbumin (Sigma) mixed with Imject Alum (Pierce) was injected i.p. into recipient BoyJ mice. CD45.1<sup>-</sup> OT-II cells from spleen were analyzed by flow cyometry for CXCR5, PD1, Bcl6, Tbet and GATA3.

**Peyers patch isolation.** PPs were cut using scissors from the small intestine and incubated for 10 mins at 37 °C in PBS containing 1% FBS, 4mM EDTA and 15 mM HEPES (PH 7.2). PPs were washed twice, with vigorous vortexing before spinning, in PBS. Soluble cell debris in supernatants were removed after centrifugation. Isolated PPs were broken apart between two frosted glass microscope slides to generate single cell suspension for flow cytometry staining or intracellular staining (ICS) described above.

**Bone marrow chimeras.** Recipient CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice were lethally irradiated with 1,100 Rad and reconstituted with 2x10<sup>6</sup> mixture of nucleated bone marrow (BM) cells from either CD45.2<sup>+</sup> WT mice plus CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice, or CD45.2<sup>+</sup> STAT3KO mice plus CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice by i.v. injection. Thus, WT chimeras were used as a control to compare the repopulation of WT CD45.2<sup>+</sup> BM with the repopulation by STAT3KO CD45.2<sup>+</sup> BM. This system has been described previously [47]. Chimeric mice were immunized with SRBC approximately 12 weeks after reconstitution.

Antibody titer analysis. Antibody titers of SRBC-specific in serum were measured by ELISA, as previously reported [93]. Briefly, 96 well Nunc-Immuno plates (Sigma) were coated with SRBC membrane protein overnight at 4 °C. Wells were blocked with 10% FCS and diluted serum was added and incubated at room temperature for 2 h. A peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse IgG1 (BD), anti-mouse IgG or anti-mouse IgM antibodies (Sigma) were used as secondary antibody.

**Statistical Analysis.** All data analysis was done using Prism Graphpad software. Unless otherwise stated, Student t test or ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis were used. Only significant differences (p < 0.05) are indicated in figures.

### 2.3: Results.

## 2.3.1: TFH cell development in the PPs can occur independent of STAT3, and STAT3 regulates the cytokine response of TFH cells.

To analyze the role of STAT3 in TFH cell development, we obtained conditional knockout mice in which STAT3 is deleted from T cells via a CD4-cre transgene (CD4-cre STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice, termed STAT3KO mice) [54]. Initially, we analyzed the TFH cell and GC B cell responses that occur in the intestinal PPs, to determine if STAT3 in T cells was essential for normal homeostatic TFH cell responses and the related GC B responses in the PP (Fig. 7). The percentage and overall numbers of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in PP were decreased significantly in the STAT3KO mice (Fig. 7B-C). As shown in Fig. 7D, the loss of STAT3 resulted in 40% inhibition of the proportion of TFH cells developed from the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell compartment in the PP, and the absolute number of PP TFH cells in STAT3KO mice was about one third of the number in WT PP (Fig. 7E). However, the loss of STAT3 in T cells did not significantly affect the development of PP GC B cells (Fig. 7G). Loss of STAT3 in T cells did affect the rate of GC B cells in the PP switching to IgG1, as dramatically increased percentages of IgG1<sup>+</sup> GC B cells were seen in the PP of STAT3KO mice (Fig. 7I-K). This result was confirmed by ELISPOT assays showing significantly increased numbers of IgG1-producing cells in the PP of STAT3KO mice (Fig. 7L).



# Figure 7. STAT3 is not required for normal TFH cell or GC B cell frequencies in the Peyer's patches, but regulates IgG1 class switching.

(A) TFH cells are gated on Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD1<sup>hi</sup> cells within the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell population, examples from PP of STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> (WT) and CD4-cre STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> (STAT3KO) mice are shown. Percentages (B) and absolute numbers (C) of CD4 cells within the PPs. (D) Average PP TFH cell percentages within the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell population in WT and STAT3KO mice. (E) Absolute numbers of PP TFH cells in WT and STAT3KO mice. (F) GC B cells are gated on Fas<sup>+</sup>GL7<sup>+</sup> cells within the B220<sup>+</sup> population, examples from PP of WT and STAT3KO mice are shown. Average PP GC B cell populations by percentage (G) and absolute number (H). (I) Histogram showing IgG1<sup>+</sup> GC B cells from WT and STAT3KO, gated on the GC B population. Average IgG1<sup>+</sup> GC B cell populations in terms of percentage (J) and absolute number (K). (L) IgG1 secreting cells in 3x10<sup>5</sup> WT and STAT3KO total PP cells, assayed by ELISPOT. (n=3, mean ± SEM). Each symbol represents one mouse (n=12, mean ± SEM). Data are combined from four independent experiments, except for ELISPOT, which was repeated once. \*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01, \*\*\*p <0.001 by t-test.

We next wondered what could account for the increased percentages of IgG1<sup>+</sup> GC B cells in STAT3KO mice and decided to examine cytokine production by PP TFH cells. As shown in Fig. 8A-B, PD1<sup>hi</sup> Bcl6<sup>hi</sup> T cells (TFH cells) from STAT3KO mice PP produce markedly higher percentages of IFN-y- and IL-4positive cells as detected by ICS. Representative ICS cytokine flow plots are shown in Fig. 9. As expected for loss of STAT3 activity, IL-21 was significantly lower in STAT3KO PP TFH cells (Fig. 8B). Non-TFH cells had much lower frequencies of cytokine producing cells (Fig. 8C), and STAT3KO PP non-TFH cells expressed more IFN-y, IL-10 and less IL-21. However IL-4 was not increased in the STAT3KO non-TFH cells (Fig. 8C), indicating a unique regulation of IL-4 in TFH cells. Notably, whereas WT PP TFH cells had almost no double IFN-y/IL-4-expressing cells or double IFN-y/IL-10-expressing cells, the STAT3KO PP TFH cells had far higher levels of these double cytokineexpressing cells (Fig. 8D-E). These results indicate that STAT3 regulates expression of cytokines by TFH cells, and inhibits dual expression of cytokines. To further confirm these results and gain insight into the mechanism for increased IL-4 expression, we sorted WT and STAT3KO PP TFH cells by FACS, made RNA and cDNA directly from the purified cells and tested gene expression by Quantitative RT-PCR (QPCR). We found as expected, that in contrast to non-TFH cells, TFH cells constitutively express II4 (Fig. 10A). We found 3-fold higher levels of II4 and the master transcription factor for Th2 cells, GATA3, in the absence of STAT3 (Fig. 10A-B). We also observed significant

increases in the levels of Bcl6 and Prdm1 (Blimp1) in the STAT3KO PP TFH cells (Fig. 10C-D).



Figure 8. Deregulated cytokine production in STAT3-deficient TFH cells in the PP.

(A) PD1<sup>hi</sup> and PD1<sup>int</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> cell gates and increased Bcl6 mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) on the PD1<sup>hi</sup> population. Fixation for ICS degrades CXCR5 staining and thus for ICS, TFH cells are defined as CD4<sup>+</sup>PD1<sup>hi</sup>. Average percentage and absolute number of cytokine-producing (IFN- $\gamma^+$ , IL-4<sup>+</sup>, IL-10<sup>+</sup> and IL-21<sup>+</sup>) in CD4<sup>+</sup>PD1<sup>hi</sup> TFH (B) and CD4<sup>+</sup>PD1<sup>neg</sup> (C) cells from WT and STAT3KO PP measured by ICS (n=4, mean ± SEM). Average percentage and absolute number of double cytokine-producing (D) IFN- $\gamma^+$ IL-4<sup>+</sup> and (E) IFN- $\gamma^+$ IL-10<sup>+</sup> populations in PD1<sup>hi</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Each symbol represents one mouse (n=12, mean ± SEM). Data are combined from four independent experiments. \*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01, \*\*\*p <0.001 by ANOVA (B-C) or t-test (D-E).



Figure 9. Examples of cytokine staining and gates showing staining controls.

Seven days after SRBC immunization, spleen cells were stimulated with PMA plus ionomycin and stained intracellularly for the indicated cytokines. Plots are gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Gated regions show cytokine positive cells. Isotype controls for each antibody were used to set gates; for isotype controls, 0-1% of the cells were in the gated region for all cytokines analyzed.



### Figure 10. Altered gene expression in STAT3-deficient TFH cells in the PP.

Relative mRNA expression was determined by QPCR. (A) II4 gene expression from freshly-isolated PP TFH and non-TFH cells (CXCR5-PD1-) from WT and STAT3KO mice (n=4, mean  $\pm$  SEM). \*p <0.05 (ANOVA). (B-D) Bcl6, Prdm1 and Gata3 gene expression in freshly-isolated PP TFH cells. TFH cells were gated for flow cytometry as in Fig. 7. Each symbol represents one mouse (n=4, mean  $\pm$  SEM). \*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01, \*\*\*p <0.001 (t-test).

## 2.3.2: STAT3 is required for acute TFH cell development in the spleen and represses IL-4 expression by TFH cells.

In order to test if our results from analyzing STAT3 function in PP TFH cells were applicable to other TFH cell responses, we immunized mice with SRBC, a potent inducer of GC B cell and TFH cell responses. Like CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the PP, the total number of CD4 T cells was also decreased in the spleen of STAT3KO mice (data not shown). As shown in Fig. 11, STAT3 was required for development of a normal TFH cell response in the spleen, particularly in the early stage of the reaction, analogous to what was previously reported in LCMV infection [79]. Thus, at 3 days post-immunization, TFH cells in STAT3KO spleens were 10-fold lower than WT (Fig. 11A-C), but by day 7, the response of the STAT3-deficient TFH cell response increased such that it trended lower but was not significantly different (Fig. 11D-F). We also analyzed Bcl6 expression by intracellular staining and found that as in the PP TFH cells, loss of STAT3 led to significantly higher Bcl6 expression specifically in TFH cells (Fig. 11G-H). However, in contrast to the PP, the loss of STAT3 strongly impacted GC B cell and GC B IgG1<sup>+</sup> cell development in the spleen: both responses were impaired at the early time-point and never developed above the WT level in the STAT3KO (Fig. 12A-D). Consistent with a decreased GC B cell reaction, anti-SRBC IgG titers were several fold lower in the STAT3KO, while anti-SRBC IgM levels were not affected (Fig. 12E-G). We next examined cytokine production by splenic STAT3KO TFH cells after SRBC immunization, and compared to WT TFH cells, found increased IL-4 and decreased IL-21 consistent with the PP TFH cells.

However in contrast to the PP TFH cells, IFN-γ was decreased in STAT3KO TFH cells (Fig. 13A). As in PP, the increase in IL-4 was specific to the STAT3KO TFH cells, and was not observed in STAT3KO non-TFH cells (Fig. 13B). As in the PP TFH cells, dual cytokine-expressing cells were significantly increased in the spleen TFH cell population (Fig. 13C-D).

### 2.3.3: Intrinsic effects of STAT3 on TFH cell function.

To confirm and extend our results, and test if the alterations in cytokine expression were an intrinsic effect of STAT3-deficiency on CD4 T cells, we utilized the OTII TCR transgenic system, where we generated both OTII TCR<sup>+</sup> STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice and OTII TCR<sup>+</sup> CD4-cre STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice. These OVA-specific CD4 T cells were transferred to congenic recipients, immunized with OVA-Alum, and donor TFH cell cytokine production was assayed by flow cytometry (Fig. 13E-F). In this system, STAT3-deficient T cells produced TFH cells, but at a significantly lower percentage than control T cells (Fig. 14A). Notably and consistent with our earlier results, the STAT3-deficient TFH cells produced significantly more IL-4, and also had an increase in double cytokine-expressing cells. The OVA-specific STAT3-deficient TFH cells also expressed higher levels of GATA3 and Bcl6 as well as Tbet (Fig. 15B-D), consistent with the STAT3-deficient TFH cells in the PP. Thus, STAT3 plays a critical role in controlling IL-4 expression in TFH cells and is intrinsically required for the de novo generation of TFH cells in an acute antigen challenge environment.



# Figure 11. Delayed TFH cell responses in the spleen of STAT3KO mice after immunization.

(A) TFH cells are gated on CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD1<sup>hi</sup> cells. Average TFH cell percentages (B) and absolute numbers (C) in WT and STAT3KO mice (n=4, mean  $\pm$  SEM), 3 days post-immunization (dpi) with SRBC. D) Day 7 TFH cells are gated as in (A). Average TFH cell percentages (E) and absolute numbers (F) in WT and STAT3KO mice (n=4, mean  $\pm$  SEM), 7 dpi with SRBC. G) Bcl6 MFI of TFH cells at 7 dpi (n=3, mean  $\pm$  SEM). H) Bcl6 MFI of non-TFH cells at 7 dpi (n=3, mean  $\pm$  SEM). \*\*p <0.01, \*\*\*p <0.001 (t-test). Each symbol in graphs represents one mouse. Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results.



# Figure 12. Weak GC B cell responses and antibody responses following SRBC immunization when STAT3 is absent in T cell.

Mice were immunized with SRBC and spleen analyzed 3 or 7 dpi. (A, C) GC B cells and (B, D)  $IgG1^+$  GC B cells were gated as in Fig. 7. Average GC B cell populations in terms of percentage in B220<sup>+</sup> cells and absolute number at 3 dpi (A, B) and 7 dpi (C, D). Each symbol represents one mouse (n=3-4, mean ± SEM). \*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01 (t-test). Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results. (E-G) Anti-SRBC antibody responses measured by ELISA at 7 dpi. (E) anti-SRBC IgM, (F) anti-SRBC IgG and (G) anti-SRBC IgG1 titers (n=4, mean ± SEM). \*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01, \*\*\*p <0.001.



# Figure 13. STAT3 controls IL-4 expression in TFH cells under multiple conditions.

Cytokines expressed by TFH cells were measured by ICS and TFH cells were gated as in Fig. 8. (A) Average percentage and absolute number of cytokine-producing (IFN- $y^+$ , IL- $4^+$ , IL- $10^+$  and IL- $21^+$ ) TFH cells in the spleens of WT and STAT3KO mice 7 dpi with SRBC (n=4-6, mean ± SEM). (B) Average percentage and absolute number of cytokine-producing (IFN-y<sup>+</sup>, IL-4<sup>+</sup>, IL-10<sup>+</sup> and IL-21<sup>+</sup>) non-TFH cells in the spleens of WT and STAT3KO mice 7 dpi with SRBC (n=4-6, mean ± SEM). Average percentage and absolute number of double cytokine-producing IFN- $y^{+}IL-4^{+}$  (C) and IL-10<sup>+</sup>IL-4<sup>+</sup> (D) cells within the populations assayed in (A). Each symbol represents one mouse (n=4-6, mean ± SEM). (E-F) WT and STAT3KO OTII TCR transgenic CD45.2<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transferred to CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice, and the recipient BoyJ mice were immunized with OVA-Alum. TFH cells were analyzed for cytokine expression at 6 dpi. Graphs show average percent of cells expressing single cytokines (IFN-y, IL-4 and IL-10) and double cytokine-producing cells in the CD45.1<sup>-</sup>PD1<sup>hi</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell population (n=3, mean ± SEM). \*p <0.0, \*\*\*p <0.001.

To further test TFH cell intrinsic effects of STAT3, we utilized a mixed bone marrow (BM) chimera system where BM from CD45.2<sup>+</sup> STAT3KO mice was mixed with CD45.1<sup>+</sup> WT BoyJ BM and transferred into lethally irradiated WT BoyJ mice. Mice where BM from CD45.2<sup>+</sup> WT (STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup>) mice was mixed with CD45.1<sup>+</sup> WT BoyJ BM and similarly transferred into lethally irradiated CD45.1<sup>+</sup> WT BoyJ mice were used as the control for the STAT3KO chimeras. The mice were allowed to repopulate their lymphoid systems for at least 90 days, and then were immunized with SRBC. Both WT and STAT3KO donor BM CD4 T cells repopulated the spleen normally in the absence of STAT3 (Fig. 14B). However, in contrast to our results with whole conditional mutant animals, STAT3-deficient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in chimeric mice formed TFH cells at a markedly lower rate than control cells in the PP, whereas splenic TFH cells were less affected (Fig. 14C). These results suggest that in a competitive environment with wild-type TFH cells, STAT3-deficient TFH cells can develop to a significant degree, but in a chronic, ongoing response as in the PP, do not persist as well as wild-type TFH cells. The proportion of GC B cells was not affected by the presence of STAT3-deficient TFH cells, and likely the wild-type TFH cells compensated for any defect of the STAT3-deficient TFH cells (Fig. 14D). GC B cells showed a non-significant trend towards increased IgG1, which would fit with a model where increased IL-4 made by STAT3-deficient TFH cells was diluted out by wild-type TFH cells (Fig. 14E). In the chimeric PP, we examined cytokine production and consistent with our results in non-chimeric mice, we observed increased IFN-y and IL-4, and decreased IL-21 in STAT3-deficient TFH cells (Fig. 15E-G). Thus, the altered

cytokine expression in STAT3-deficient TFH cells is cell intrinsic. In the chimeric spleen, we further examined the expression of Bcl6 and GATA3, and found these two key transcription factors were significantly increased in STAT3-deficient TFH cells in both PP and SP (Fig. 14F-G). Thus, deregulated Bcl6 and GATA3 expression in STAT3-deficient TFH cells is an intrinsic effect of loss of STAT3 in the TFH cells, and is not a function of an abnormal immune environment present in STAT3KO mice.

To better understand how STAT3 was required for TFH cell development, we wondered if STAT3-deficient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells proliferated poorly or underwent greater apoptosis, thus leading to non-competitive TFH cell responses. To test this, we used T cells from WT and STAT3KO OTIL TCR mice, where the cells were labeled with a cell tracking dye prior to transfer. Six days after OVA-Alum immunization, we found that the STAT3-deficient T cells demonstrated slightly greater proliferation than the control cells (Fig. 16A-B). We additionally analyzed the rate at which STAT3-deficient TFH cells underwent apoptosis, using two different methods. We tested the ex vivo level of TFH cells initiating apoptosis by staining TFH cells for AnnexinV, both in spleen after SRBC immunization and in PP. We also tested whether the STAT3-deficient TFH cells might undergo higher apoptosis if they were stimulated through the TCR. TFH cells were isolated by FACS from spleens of SRBC-immunized mice, stimulated overnight with anti-CD3 antibody, and then measured for levels of active caspase 3. Contrary to expectations from the lack of in vivo competitiveness in chimeric mice, the

STAT3-deficient TFH cells had fewer or equal levels of apoptotic cells (Fig. 16C-E).


#### Figure 14. Intrinsic defect of STAT3-deficient TFH cell development.

(A) WT OTIL TCR transgenic and STAT3KO OTIL TCR transgenic CD45.2<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transferred to separate cohorts of CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice, and recipient BoyJ mice were immunized with OVA-Alum. Graph shows average percent TFH cells within the transferred T cell population, analyzed at 6 dpi. (B-G) CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice were lethally irradiated and divided into two groups. The WT group was given a mixture of bone marrow (BM) from BoyJ mice and CD45.2<sup>+</sup> STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> (WT) mice. The STAT3KO group was given a mixture of bone marrow (BM) from BoyJ mice and STAT3KO mice. After 90 days, the mice were immunized with SRBC. At 7 dpi, the mice were analyzed for percentages of transferred BM-derived CD45.1<sup>-</sup> CD4 T cells in spleen (B), and percent of TFH cells (C) and GC B (D) in spleen (SP) and PP. Graphs show average percentage of CD45.1<sup>-</sup> (CD45.2<sup>+</sup>) cells in the WT and STAT3KO groups. TFH cells were analyzed by flow cytometry as in Fig. 7 and 10. (E) IgG1<sup>+</sup> GC B cell percentages in spleen and PP (n=4, mean ± SEM). \*\*\*p <0.05 (t-test). (D-E) MFI of CD45.1<sup>-</sup> TFH cells in spleen (SP) and PP for Bcl6 (F) and GATA3 (G). (n=4, mean ± SEM). \*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01, \*\*\*p <0.001 (t-test). Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results.



# Figure 15. TFH cell intrinsic regulation of transcription factors and cytokines by STAT3.

(A) TFH cells in the PPs of WT and STAT3KO mice were sorted by FACS and RNA isolated post-sort. Tbx21 (Tbet) mRNA levels were assayed by QPCR. (B-D) WT and STAT3KO OTII TCR transgenic CD45.2<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transferred to CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice, and the recipient BoyJ mice were immunized with OVA-Alum. TFH cells were analyzed at 6 days after immunization. Graphs show Tbet, Bcl6 and GATA3 MFIs of CD45.1-TFH cells, where each symbol represents one mouse (n=3, mean  $\pm$  SEM). (E-G) Cytokines in TFH cell populations in the PPs of bone marrow chimeras were measured by intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) following PMA plus ionomycin staining in vitro.



### Figure 16. Increased proliferation and decreased cell death of STAT3deficient TFH cells.

(A-B) WT and STAT3KO OTII TCR transgenic CD45.2<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were transferred to CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice and immunized with OVA-Alum as in Fig. 14. (A) Histogram plot of Cell Tracker Violet (CTV)-labeled WT and STAT3KO OTII CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells at 6 dpi with OVA-Alum. (B) Graphs of average MFI of CTV-labeled WT and STAT3KO OTII CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Each symbol represents one mouse (n=3, mean  $\pm$  SEM). \*\*p <0.01 (t-test). (C) Percentage of Annexin V<sup>+</sup> TFH cells assayed ex vivo from spleen 7 dpi with SRBC in WT and STAT3KO mice. Each symbol represents one mouse (n=4-5, mean  $\pm$  SEM). \*p <0.05 (t-test). (D) Percentage of Annexin V<sup>+</sup> TFH cells assayed ex vivo from PP (n=4-5, mean  $\pm$ SEM). \*\*p <0.01 (t-test). (E) 7 dpi with SRBC, average percentage of activated Caspase3<sup>+</sup> (aCaspase3<sup>+</sup>) cells in FACS-isolated spleen TFH cells and non-TFH cell populations, stimulated with anti-CD3 antibody overnight in vitro . (n=3, mean  $\pm$  SEM). \*\*\*p <0.001 (ANOVA).

#### 2.3.4: Control of Bcl6 repressive activity by STAT3.

To better dissect why STAT3-deficient TFH cells expressed more IL-4, we used an OVA antigen plus APC in vitro culture system where OTII TCR control and STAT3-deficient OTII TCR CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were activated under Th2 conditions, and IFN-y and IL-4 expression were monitored by ICS after 3 days (Fig. 17A). Similar to what we observed for STAT3-deficient TFH cells, STAT3deficient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells cultured under Th2 conditions produced about twice as much IL-4, and like the STAT3-deficient TFH cells, double cytokine-expressing cells were also increased (Fig. 17B). However, the increased IL-4 production by STAT3KO T cells was transient, as STAT3KO T cells cultured longer under Th2 conditions produced significantly less IL-4 than the control Th2 cells (Fig. 17C). Bcl6 is known to suppress IL-4 expression in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in part by suppressing GATA3 transcriptional activity [94, 95], so we wondered why the increased Bcl6 expression in STAT3-deficient TFH cells failed to control IL-4. We therefore tested whether forced expression of Bcl6 by retrovirus (RV) could suppress IL-4 in STAT3-deficient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells cultured under Th2 conditions. For this experiment, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from control and STAT3KO mice were activated under Th2 conditions using anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies plus APC. Under these conditions, about 50% of control T cells expressed IL-4 and a higher level, about 70% of STAT3-deficient T cells expressed IL-4 (Fig. 17D). Whereas Bcl6 RV was able to suppress over 60% of the IL-4 in control T cells, it suppressed less than 30% of the IL-4 in STAT3-deficient T cells (Fig. 17D, G). This strong loss of Bcl6 repressive activity was unique to IL-4, as Bcl6 repressed IL-10 slightly better

in STAT3-deficient T cells (Fig. 17E, G) and Bcl6 showed only a slight defect in repressing IL-13 (Fig. 17F, G). These data show that Bcl6 is defective in repressing IL-4 expression in the absence of STAT3, and this can explain the abnormal expression of IL-4 by STAT3-deficient TFH cells.

















#### Figure 17. Defective Suppression of IL-4 by Bcl6 in STAT3-deficient T cells.

(A-B) WT and STAT3KO OTILTCR transgenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were cultured under Th2 conditions with APC and OVA peptide in vitro for 3 days. Cells were then stimulated with PMA plus ionomycin and analyzed for IFN-y and IL-4 by ICS. (A) Sample staining of WT versus STAT3KO T cells after one round of Th2 culture. (B) Average percentages of IFN-y<sup>+</sup>IL-4<sup>-</sup>, IFN-y<sup>+</sup>IL-4<sup>+</sup> and IFN-y<sup>-</sup>IL-4<sup>+</sup> cell in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after one round culture under Th2 conditions for 3 days (n=3, mean ± SEM). (C) Average percentages of IFN-y<sup>+</sup>IL-4<sup>-</sup>, IFN-y<sup>+</sup>IL-4<sup>+</sup> and IFN-y<sup>-</sup>IL-4<sup>+</sup> cell in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells after an additional 5 days of Th2 culture ("2nd Th2", n=3, mean ± SEM). (D-G) WT and STAT3KO CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells under Th2 condition and infected with Bcl6-expressing and control RVs. Average percentages of T cells expressing (D) IL-4, (E) IL-10, (F) IL-13 assayed by ICS, after PMA plus ionomycin stimulation. (G) Analysis of data in (D-F) showing average percent suppression by Bcl6 RV in WT and STAT3KO CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Percent suppression = ((% cytokine+ cells with control RV minus % cytokine+ cells with Bcl6 RV) divided by % cytokine+ cells with control RV) x 100. Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results. \*p <0.05, \*\*p <0.01, \*\*\*p <0.001 (ANOVA).

### 2.4: Discussion.

TFH cells control germinal center reaction and the production of highaffinity antibodies to antigen. The pathways for how TFH cells develop and regulate B cell responses are a major part of the adaptive immune response. When we initiated this study, we were interested in elucidating how critical STAT3 was for TFH cell differentiation and if other pathways besides STAT3 could induce Bcl6 expression in TFH cells. Recent studies have revealed that TFH cells can develop at a low level in the absence of STAT3 [56], and that STAT4 and STAT1 can participate in inducing Bcl6 during TFH cell differentiation [76, 78, 79]. The work of Ray et al [56] established that STAT3 is critical factor for not only activating Bcl6 in TFH cells but also for repressing a Type I IFN pathway that induces a Th1-like effector program in TFH cells. However, since this study was done solely in the context of acute LCMV infection where a great deal of Type I IFN is produced, whether this pathway represented the dominant STAT3mediated control pathway in TFH cells, or only was operative in the case of virus infection, was unclear. Thus, we analyzed T cell specific STAT3 conditional KO mice (CD4-cre STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup>; STAT3KO) for other types of TFH cell responses. In the ongoing chronic TFH cell/GC B cell response of the PP, we found that loss of STAT3 caused slight decrease of the TFH cells within the PP, while with no effects on the number of GC B cells. Furthermore, there was a shift towards the expression of both Th1 (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and Th2 (IL-4) cytokines in STAT3-deficient PP TFH cells. We observed that Bcl6 expression was notably higher in STAT3deficient PP TFH cells. These data indicate that STAT3 function in TFH cells can

vary depending on the type of immune response, and that STAT3 appears to insulate TFH cells from differentiating into different effector pathways depending on the cellular micro-environment. Most dramatic, though was our finding that PP GC B cell responses were present at normal levels in the STAT3KO mice, with increased Bcl6 expression by TFH cells. The function of STAT3 in regulating Bcl6 expression in TFH cells is therefore heavily influenced by the local immune environment. In a virus infection with high levels of Type I IFN, STAT3 is required for up-regulating Bcl6 in TFH cells, but in the immune response against commensal organisms in the PP, STAT3 actually restrains the up-regulation of Bcl6 in TFH cells. In the anti-virus response, Type I IFN suppresses Bcl6 expression, and it was proposed that Type I IFN leads to IL-2 gene transcription and downstream STAT5 activation, where STAT5 then directly binds to and represses Bcl6 [56]. In contrast, for the gut-PP immune environment and for antigens where Type I IFN is not produced, such as OVA-Alum, STAT5 is likely not activated in TFH cells. We propose that the lack of STAT3 without STAT5 activation allows other STATs, such as STAT1 and STAT4, to bind to the Bcl6 promoter and more strongly activate transcription than when STAT5 is active.

A related question is why IL4 is up-regulated in STAT3-deficient TFH cells. We observed this effect in different types of TFH cell responses (PP, SRBC immunization, OVA-Alum immunization and in vitro activation under Th2 conditions). Thus it seems to be a general effect in our hands. Notably, IFN-γ was increased in STAT3-deficient PP TFH cells and the in vitro cultured TFH cells, but not in STAT3-deficient TFH cells induced by SRBC or OVA/Alum. Thus,

the immune environment is key for the exact type of cytokine response that STAT3 regulates in TFH cells. Our data with Bcl6 RV show that Bcl6 is unable to suppress IL-4 in the absence of STAT3, but the mechanism for this effect is not clear. One possibility is the increased GATA3 we observe in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the absence of STAT3. GATA3 may put the IL-4 gene chromatin in a hyper-activated state that is resistant to repression by Bcl6. A related possibility is that there is differential regulation of IL-4 by STAT factors in the absence of STAT3. This model is analogous to the model for regulation of Bcl6 transcription in the absence of STAT3 described above so that IL-4 gene expression is controlled by loss of STAT3 very differently in the virus infection system versus immune responses where Type I IFN is not produced, such as in the PP. In the absence of Type I IFN and STAT1 activity, other STAT factors may bind to IL-4 or GATA3 regulatory regions and induce high-level expression of these genes. Yet another possibility is that STAT3 regulates the transcription of a co-factor required for repression of IL-4 by Bcl6. The exact mechanism for how Bcl6 represses IL-4 expression in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is not known, though the current model is that Bcl6 represses GATA3 transcriptional activity, and thus indirectly suppresses IL-4 gene expression [95, 96].

Our data showing increased IL-4 by T cells in the absence of STAT3 contrasts with published work showing that STAT3 is required for optimal full Th2 cell differentiation [54]. A possible explanation for this discrepancy is that TFH cells regulate IL-4 gene expression by different regulatory elements than the regulatory elements that Th2 cells use for IL-4 expression [97, 98], and overall it

is clear that TFH cells are a separate lineage from Th2 cells. At the same time, we observed increased IL-4 expression by STAT3-deficient T cells cultured under Th2 conditions (Fig. 17B). Critically, in the in vitro Th2 cultures, we analyzed IL-4 and other cytokines in these STAT3-deficient Th2 cells at an early time point: 3 days after initial activation. When we examined STAT3-deficient Th2 cells cultured for longer periods and after re-stimulation (Fig. 17C), the increased IL-4 expression was lost. Indeed, data in the previous report also showed that IL-4 production within the first 24-48 hours was not deficient in the absence of STAT3 [99]. Thus, we can reconcile these findings then by proposing that STAT3 indeed suppresses expression of IL-4 shortly after activation, but that STAT3 is actually important for long-term Th2 cell stability and/or survival.

Curiously, we found that STAT3-deficient TFH cells survive about the same or slightly better than wild-type TFH cells (Fig. 16C-E), which contradicts the standard view that STAT3 is a pro-transformation and pro-survival transcription factor [77, 81, 100]. One explanation is that the increased survival of STAT3-deficient TFH cells is due to increased Bcl6 expression, since we have previously shown a survival effect of Bcl6 in TFH cells [93]. Whether this effect is unique to TFH cells and holds up to further scrutiny will require investigation.

In summary, we have revealed a much more complete picture of how STAT3 regulates TFH cell development and function. STAT3 function in TFH cells appears to be strongly dependent on the immune environment, and STAT3 plays very different regulatory roles in TFH cells that develop during virus infection than in TFH cells that develop in response to commensal organisms in

the gut, as well to model antigens that do not provoke a strong type I IFN response.

# Chapter 3 - Follicular regulatory T cells repress cytokine production by follicular helper T cells and optimize IgG responses in mice

#### 3.1: Introduction.

During an immune response, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can differentiate into several unique effector lineages that promote different immune responses via the secretion of distinct types of cytokines. TFH cells are a recently characterized CD4 lineage whose major function is to help B cells form GCs and produce high-affinity antibodies [42, 66]. Both in mouse and human, TFH cells control the initiation as well as the outcome of the GC B-cell response [69, 101-103]. While TFH cells are critical for the proper production of antibodies, the over-production of TFH cells can lead to autoimmunity, since TFH cells can help B cells to produce self-reactive antibodies [69-71]. Thus, the proper regulation of TFH- and GC B-cell responses is essential both for normal immune function and for preventing autoimmune disease.

A subpopulation of Treg cells in the GCs was discovered that appear to act as suppressors of TFH and GC B cells [60-62]. These follicular regulatory T (TFR) cells display a mixed phenotype of both TFH cells and Tregs. Like TFH cells, TFR cells express CXCR5, ICOS, and PD-1, and depend on Bcl6 for differentiation and localization to the B cell follicle. Although TFR and TFH cells are phenotypically similar, TFR cells originate from natural Tregs, whereas TFH cells originate from naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [61]. In vitro and in vivo studies have shown that TFR cells can suppress TFH- and GC B-cell proliferation and can

regulate GC B cell differentiation as well [60-64]. A study using a NFAT2 conditional knockout mouse model showed that decreased development of TFR cells correlated with increased TFH- and GC B-cell responses, and these mice also developed anti-dsDNA auto-antibodies and lupus-like disease [104].

However how TFR cells affect antibody production is still unresolved. Several studies have shown that TFR cells repress antibody production [60-64]. Furthermore, Linterman et al demonstrated that TFR cells control the outgrowth of non-antigen-specific GC B cells and helped maintain high titers of high-affinity antigen-specific antibodies [61]. However, the precise mechanisms by which TFR cells control antibody responses are not known.

Despite a large number of studies analyzing TFR cells in GC responses, a mouse model where TFR cells are specifically deleted and that allows for systematic study has been lacking. Experimental systems with adoptive transfer of TFR cells into T cell deficient mice can have non-physiological effects [60, 61, 64, 105]. Bone marrow chimeras have been used to analyze loss of TFR cells [61], but the number of animals that can be tested is limited and this approach relies on the production of TFH cells from Foxp3-deficient T cells. Total Treg deletion [60-62, 104, 106, 107] does not specifically target TFR cells, and causes a much broader effect on the immune response that can mask the actual functions of TFR cells.

Here, we have undertaken a further characterization of TFR cells with a novel mouse model. We find that TFR cells have low expression of CD25 and high expression of the inhibitory molecule T-cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM

domains (TIGIT). We used  $Bcl6^{fl/fl}Foxp3^{cre}$  (Bcl6FC) mice to completely delete TFR cells and leave remaining Tregs intact. Although loss of TFR cells has no gross effect on size of TFH- or GC B-cell populations after immunization, we find that TFR cells promote the generation of normal levels of IgG and repress IgA responses. Further, TFR cells repress the production of anti-dsDNA IgA antibodies in a lupus model. TFH cells from Bcl6FC mice consistently produce higher levels of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-10 and IL-21, which are well-known cytokines that promote B-cell responses. We hypothesize that the increased cytokine production by TFH cells in the absence of TFR cells may lead to the altered antibody responses. Overall, our findings uncover both positive and negative regulatory roles for TFR cells in antibody responses, in both vaccine and autoimmune settings.

#### 3.2: Materials and Methods.

**Mice.** Bcl6<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice were previously described [108]. Foxp3-YFP-cre mice [109] were obtained from Jackson labs. Genotyping for the floxed Bcl6 allele was preformed as described [108]. Genotyping for Foxp3-YFP-cre allele was according to PCR protocols from Jackson labs. Bcl6<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice were crossed to Foxp3-YFP-cre mice. Control mice for Bcl6FC conditional KO mice were Foxp3- cre Bcl6<sup>+/+</sup> (wild-type [WT]) mice. Mice were bred under specific pathogen-free conditions at the laboratory animal facility at IUSM and were handled according to protocols approved by the IUSM Animal Care and use Committee.

**Immunization.** For SRBC immunization, mice were i.p. injected with 1 x  $10^9$  SRBC (Rockland Immunochemicals) and were sacrificed at the indicated day. For KLH (Sigma-Aldrich) immunization, 100 ug KLH was mixed with Imject Alum (Pierce) and the mixture was injected i.p.. For gp120 DNA prime-protein boost vaccine immunization as previous reported [110, 111], gp120 DNA vaccine construct in pJW4303 vector and gp120 protein produced from Chinese Hamster Ovary (CHO) cells were used. Mice were primed by i.m. injections of 100 ug of gp120 construct every two weeks for three times. Four weeks after the third DNA immunization, mice were boosted with 10 ug gp120 protein plus Alum mixture twice at two week interval. Mice were sacrificed one week after the second gp120 protein boost. For both DNA and protein immunizations, a total of 100 ul was injected, 50 ul per hind leg.

**Pristane administration.** WT and Bcl6FC mice were given a single i.p. injection of 0.5 ml Pristane (Sigma-Aldrich) at 12 weeks of age. After 4 months, mice were sacrificed. The presence of anti-dsDNA antibodies in the serum was tested by ELISA, and spleens were taken out for further flow cytometry analysis.

**Flow cytometry reagents.** Anti-CXCR5 (2G8), GL7 (GL7), and anti-IL-4 (11B11) antibodies were from BD Biosciences. Fixable viability dye, anti-CD38 (90), anti-TIGIT (GIGD7), anti-IL-21 (mhalx21), and anti-Foxp3 (FJK-16s) antibodies were from eBioscience. Anti-CD4 (GK1.5), anti-B220 (RA3-6B2), anti-PD1 (29F.1A12), anti-CD25 (PC61), anti-IL-10 (JES5-16E3), Annexin V and anti-IFN-y (XMG1.2) were from Biolegend.

**Cell staining for flow cytometry.** Cell suspension from spleen were first incubated with anti-mouse CD16/CD32 (Bio X Cell) for 5 min at room temperature, followed by surface staining of indicated markers and viability staining. For intracellular staining, after surface staining, cell were fixed and stained with antibodies against intracellular proteins by following Foxp3 fixation kit (eBioscience) protocol. Cell events were collected on LSRII flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) and analyzed by Flowjo software.

**Intracellular cytokine staining.** 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells were stimulated with PMA (75 ng/ml) plus ionomycin (1 ug/ml) for 5 hours in DMEM with 10% FBS, then fixed and stained for indicated cytokines as described [112]. GolgiStop and GolgiPlug (BD Biosciences) were added with the stimulation to inhibit cytokine release.

**Preparation of SRBC membrane antigens for ELISA.** All procedures were carried out at 4°C. After each centrifugation, the supernatant were removed by vacuum. SRBC (Rockland Immunochemicals) were centrifuged at 13,000g for 10 min. The pellet was re-suspended in lysis buffer (0.05 M Tris-HCL with 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.6), vortexed thoroughly, and then centrifuged again. This process was repeated 7 to 10 times to remove all visible traces of hemoglobin. Before last centrifugation, the pellet was re-suspended and passed through a 40  $\mu$ m cell strainer. After the final wash, the pellet from 5 ml SRBC was resuspended in 500 ul 0.1% SDS and stored at -20 °C.

Anti-SRBC, anti-dsDNA and anti-gp120 antibody titers analysis. Anti-SRBC IgG/IgM, and anti-dsDNA IgA/IgG/IgM titers were determined by ELISA,

as previously reported [108]. Briefly, 96-well Nunc-Immuno plates (Sigma-Aldrich) were coated with SRBC membrane antigens or salmon sperm DNA passed through 45 µm filter (Invitrogen) overnight at 4°C. Wells were blocked with 1% BSA for 1.5 hours. Diluted serum samples were applied. ELISA plates were incubated for 2 hours at rm temperature for anti-SRBC antibody detection, or incubated for 1 hour at 37°C for anti-dsDNA antibody detection. Peroxidaseconjugated anti-mouse IgA, anti-mouse IgG or anti-mouse IgM antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) was used as secondary antibody. Anti-dsDNA ELISA plates were washed extensively after each incubation to minimize high background signals. Anti-gp120 IgG titers were measured by ELISA as previously described [110, 111]. Anti-gp120 antibody avidity was measure via the NaSCN displacement method, as previously reported [110, 111].

**Statistical analysis.** All data analysis was done in GraphPad Prism software. Unless otherwise stated, a Student t test or ANOVA with a Tukey post hoc analysis were used. Only significant differences (p < 0.05) are indicated in figures.

#### 3.3: Results.

#### 3.3.1: Characterization of TFH and TFR cell populations.

Initially, we analyzed wild-type mice, in order to assess the development of TFH and TFR cells after immunization. We used SRBC, which is known to induce a strong TFH and GC response. As shown in Fig. 18A, both the Foxp3and Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cell populations contain a fraction of cells expressing both CXCR5

and PD-1, with a gradient from intermediate expression (CXCR5<sup>low</sup>PD-1<sup>low</sup>) to high expression (CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>). TFH cells are commonly defined based on the expression of these two cell surface markers [65]. For this study, in Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, we define CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>, CXCR5<sup>neg</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> and CXCR5<sup>neg</sup>PD-1<sup>neg</sup> cells as TFH, PD-1<sup>+</sup>TH and PD-1<sup>-</sup>TH cells, respectively. We applied the same cell subpopulation gating and definition to the Treg compartment, which are TFR, PD-1<sup>+</sup>Treg and PD-1 Tregs. TFH and TFR cells expressed the highest levels of Bcl6, the master transcription factor for TFH- and TFR-cell differentiation, among conventional CD4 T (Tconv) cells and Tregs, respectively (Fig. 18B, Fig. 19). Since IL-2 and STAT5 signaling is known to inhibit TFH-cell differentiation [51, 113, 114] and CD25 is often used as a Treg marker, we next compared CD25 expression on different Tconv or Tregs subpopulations directly ex vivo (Fig. 18C, Fig. 19). The overall level of CD25 on Tregs was much higher than Tconv cells. However, within Foxp3<sup>+</sup> cells, TFR cells had significantly lower level of CD25 than other subpopulations. This indicates that down regulation of CD25 may be part of TFR-cell differentiation program similar to TFH cells. Previous studies have shown that TFH cells highly express the inhibitory molecule TIGIT [115, 116] and TIGIT is important for Treg suppressive function on Th1 and Th17 cell [117]. Therefore we checked TIGIT expression on TFR cells. As shown in Fig. 18D, both TFH and TFR cells express the highest level of TIGIT in Tconv and Tregs, respectively, and further that the MFI of TIGIT on TFR cells is more than two-fold higher than TFH cells. TFR cells are enriched within the TIGIT-high Treg population, but TFR cells only comprise a fraction of the TIGIT-high Treg

population (Fig. 20). Taken together, TFR cells express high levels of Bcl6 and TIGIT, while a relatively low level of CD25. These data define novel differences between TFR and TFH cells and also between TFR cells and conventional Tregs.









# Figure 18. Bcl6, CD25 and TIGIT levels in various conventional and regulatory T cell subsets.

Splenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from WT mice immunized with SRBC 7 d before were studied by flow cytometry. (A) Foxp3<sup>+</sup> and Foxp3<sup>-</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are gated as in the flow plot (left). In Foxp3<sup>-</sup> conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> T (Tconv) cells, TFH cells, PD-1<sup>+</sup>TH cells and PD-1<sup>-</sup> TH cells are defined as CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>, CXCR5<sup>neg</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> and CXCR5<sup>neg</sup>PD-1<sup>neg</sup>, respectively. In Foxp3<sup>+</sup> regulatory CD4<sup>+</sup> (Treg) cells, TFR, PD-1<sup>+</sup>Treg and PD-1<sup>-</sup> Treg cells are gated on CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>, CXCR5<sup>-</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> and CXCR5<sup>-</sup>PD-1<sup>-</sup>, respectively (right). MFI of Bcl6 (B), CD25 (C) and TIGIT (D) in TFH, PD-1<sup>+</sup>TH, PD-1<sup>-</sup> TH, TFR, PD-1<sup>+</sup>Treg and PD-1<sup>-</sup> Treg cells. Data shown as mean +/- SEM, n = 4-5. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (ANOVA). Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results.





# Figure 19. Histogram plots of Bcl6, CD25 and TIGIT staining in different of Tconv and Treg subpopulations.

Spleens were isolated from mice 7 days after SRBC immunization for flow cytometric analysis. Foxp3<sup>-</sup> and Foxp3<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell subsets are gated as in Fig. 18A. (A) Histogram plots show the expression of Bcl6, CD25 and TIGIT in TFH, PD-1<sup>+</sup>TH and PD-1<sup>-</sup> TH cells. (B) Histogram plots show the expression of Bcl6, CD25 and TIGIT in TFR, PD-1<sup>+</sup>Treg and PD-1<sup>-</sup> Treg cells. Plots are representative of two independent experiments with similar results.



### Figure 20. TFR cells are enriched within TIGIT-high Treg cells.

Splenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from control and Bcl6FC mice immunized with SRBC 10 d before were studied by flow cytometry. (A) TIGIT negative, low and high Treg cells are gated as in the flow plots. (B) TFR cells are defined as Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>. The flow plots of TFR cells in TIGIT negative, low and high Treg cells are shown. (C) Within TIGIT negative, low and high Treg cell populations, TFR cell percentages are shown. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 4. \*\*\* p < 0.001 (two-way ANOVA). Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results.

# 3.3.2: Loss of TFR cells does not lead to an increased TFH cell population in Bcl6FC mice.

In order to assess the functional role of TFR cells more precisely, we created Bcl6FC mice, where the floxed Bcl6 allele is deleted specifically in Foxp3 expressing T cells. Similar to Bcl6<sup>fl/fl</sup>CD4<sup>cre</sup> mice [108], Bcl6FC mice are healthy, fertile, do not display abnormal inflammation and have grossly normal immune cell compartments [118]. This is in contrast to germline Bcl6-/- mice, which are extremely prone to spontaneous inflammatory disease and early death [119]. Tregs from Bcl6-/- mice are strongly skewed towards a pro-inflammatory Th2 phenotype, which is largely driven by the severe Th2 inflammation in these mice [96]. However, Tregs from unimmunized Bcl6FC mice do not show abnormal Th2 cytokine production [118], consistent with the lack of inflammatory disease in the mice. Prior to immunization, both control (Bcl6<sup>+/+</sup>Foxp3<sup>cre</sup>) mice and Bcl6FC mice have very low levels of TFH cells, less than 0.5% of total spleen, indicating that the Bcl6FC mice do not have increased basal levels of TFH cells. We then immunized control and Bcl6FC mice with SRBC and analyzed TFH and TFR cells in spleen at 10 dpi. As expected, the induction of CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup> TFR cells was strongly diminished in Bcl6FC mice (Fig. 21B). We wondered if the great loss of TFR cells is due to apoptosis in the absence of Bcl6, similar to our findings in Bcl6<sup>fl/fl</sup>CD4<sup>cre</sup> mice [108]. In those mice, the few TFH cells that develop are undergoing a high rate of apoptosis. We therefore examined survival of TFR cells in Bcl6FC mice, and found that indeed, TFR cells are undergoing a significantly higher rate of late apoptosis indicated as increased percentage of

Annexin V and viability dye double positive TFR cells (Fig. 22). However, in contrast to previous reports [60-62], we did not see an increase in the proportion or number of TFH cells in immunized Bcl6FC mice (Fig. 23B). This result is not unique to SRBC immunization, as Bcl6FC mice also had comparable TFH cell populations as control mice did at different time-points after immunization with SRBC, as well as in several other types of immune challenge with different antigens (data not shown). Additionally, we did not observe changes in the numbers of PD1- and CXCR5-intermediate Foxp3- T cells (early/pre-TFH cells) in Bcl6FC mice, and thus there was no altered regulation of TFH-cell differentiation at an earlier stage due to loss of TFR cells (Fig. 23D). Thus, TFR cells are specifically and strongly deleted in Bcl6FC conditional KO mice, however loss of TFR cells did not have any gross effect on the development of the TFH-cell population.







### Figure 21. Loss of TFR cells in Bcl6FC mice following SRBC immunization.

Control and Bcl6FC KO mice were immunized with SRBC by i.p. injection. At 10 dpi, spleens were isolated for flow cytometric analysis. (A) TFR cells are defined as  $Foxp3^+CXCR5^{hi}PD-1^{hi}$ . (B) TFR cell percentage in  $CD4^+Foxp3^+$  T cells and TFR cell number. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 6-7. \*\* p < 0.01 (student t test). Data are combined from two independent experiments.



### Figure 22. Bcl6 maintains the survival of TFR cells.

Survival of splenic TFR cells at 5 dpi in mice immunized with SRBC (A) and 25 dpi in mice immunized with NPKLH Alum (B) were studied. (A-B) Representative flow plots of viability dye and AnnexinV binding of TFR cells are shown on the left. Percentages of AnnexinV<sup>+</sup>Viability Dye<sup>-</sup> and AnnexinV<sup>+</sup>Viability Dye<sup>+</sup> cells in TFR cells are shown on the right. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 4. \*p < 0.05 (student t test). Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results.










## Figure 23. Loss of Bcl6 in Treg cells does not affect pre-TFH and TFH cell differentiation.

Control and Bcl6FC KO mice were immunized with SRBC by i.p. injection. At 10 dpi, spleens were isolated for flow cytometric analysis. (A) TFH cells are defined as Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>. (B) TFH cell percentage in CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-</sup> T cells and TFH cell number. (C) The flow plots of pre-TFH cells which are defined as Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>int</sup>PD-1<sup>int</sup>. (D) pre-TFH cell percentage in CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-</sup> T cells and pre-TFH cell number. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 6-7. \*\* p < 0.01 (student t test). Data are combined from two independent experiments.

## 3.3.3: Loss of TFR cells does not expand the GC B-cell population but the antibody response is altered.

Although we did not observe that loss of TFR cells led to the increase in TFH-cell numbers, we next wondered whether TFR cells could suppress the GC B cell response. Unexpectedly, 10 days after SRBC immunization, similar sizes of GC B cell populations were formed both in control and Bcl6FC mice (Fig. 24A-B). Similar to our observations with TFH cells, this result of unchanged GC B cell numbers in the absence of TFR cells was observed after multiple types of immune challenge with different antigens and was seen at all time-points following immunization. Since the ultimate outcome of GC responses is the production of antigen-specific antibodies, we next analyzed SRBC-specific IgG and IgM serum antibody titers at 10 dpi by ELISA. Despite the similar TFH- and GC B-cell responses in control and Bcl6FC mice, we found the titers of anti-SRBC-specific IgG were strongly and significantly decreased in Bcl6FC mice, while the titers of anti-SRBC-specific IgA were strongly and significantly increased in Bcl6FC mice (Fig. 24C-D). This pattern of decreased Ag-specific IgG but increased Ag-specific IgA was also observed when the mice were immunized with NP-KLH in Alum (Fig. 25E-F). This indicates that TFR cells are important for promoting high levels of IgG and repressing abnormal IgA responses.









Figure 24. TFR cells do not regulate the size of GC B cell population, but contribute to the generation of antigen-specific IgG antibodies by restraining antigen-specific IgA antibodies.

Control and Bcl6FC KO mice were immunized with SRBC by i.p. injection. Spleens were isolated for flow cytometric analysis at 10 dpi. (A) GC B cells are defined as B220<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>GL7<sup>+</sup> in flow plot. (B) GC B cell percentage in B220<sup>+</sup> cells and cell number. Serum samples from control and Bcl6FC mice were also collected. (C) Anti-SRBC IgG, (D) anti-SRBC IgA titers. The X-axis shows the dilution factors. Control and Bcl6FC mice were immunized with NP-KLH in Alum. Serum samples were collected at 25 dpi. (E) Anti-NPKLH IgG, (F) anti-NPKLH IgA titers. The X-axis shows the dilution factors. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, (A-B) n = 6-7, (C-D) n = 4, (E-F) n = 4-6. \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (student t test for B, two-way ANOVA for C-F). For A-B, data are combined from two independent experiments. For C-F, data are representative of three independent experiments with similar results.

## 3.3.4: Loss of TFR cells decreases the avidity of antigen-specific antibodies in an HIV immunization model.

Generation of high-affinity, protective antibodies is one of the goals of an effective vaccine. We therefore sought to determine whether TFR cells have an impact on the GC and antigen-specific antibody responses in a vaccination setting. We used a well-characterized DNA prime-protein boost vaccine strategy [110, 111] to raise an antibody response against the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 in control and Bcl6FC mice. As shown in Fig. 25A, control and Bcl6FC mice were injected i.m. with gp120-encoding DNA 3 times, 2 wk apart, for priming. 4 wk later, mice received two gp120 protein booster immunizations via i.m. injection, 2 wk apart. One wk after the final injection, mice were sacrificed. In this repeated challenge model, we again did not see significant changes in the size of TFH- or GC B-cell populations in Bcl6FC mice compared to control mice (data not shown).



## Figure 25. Decreased antibody avidity in the absence of TFR cells in the DNA prime-protein boost gp120 vaccine model.

(A) Experimental setup of gp120 DNA prime and protein boost immunization. Control and Bcl6FC mice were primed i.m. with gp120-encoding DNA 3 times, 2 wk apart. 4 wk later they were given 2 booster injections of gp120 protein, 2 wk apart. Spleen and serum samples from control and Bcl6FC mice were collected one week after the final booster. (B) Serum anti-gp120 specific IgG titers measured by ELISA and (C) avidity of gp120-specific IgG antibodies measured by NaSCN displacement method are shown. Graphs show mean +/-SEM, n = 9-11. \*\*p < 0.01 (student t test). Data are combined from two independent experiments. Unlike SRBC immunization, where Bcl6FC mice had a dramatic decrease of anti-SRBC IgG titers, anti-gp120 IgG titers were similar in the serum from control and Bcl6FC mice (Fig. 25B). Because of the high titers of IgG produced in this model, we could assess the avidity of anti-gp120 IgG antibodies using a chaotropic reagent (NaSCN) displacement method (Fig. 25C). We observed a significant decrease in the avidity of anti-gp120 IgG antibodies in the Bcl6FC mice. Thus, TFR cells have a positive role in maintaining anti-gp120 IgG antibody avidity in a multi-prime and multi-boost vaccine model. As with other antigens, we saw enhanced levels of anti-gp120 IgA (Fig. 26).



# Figure 26. TFR cells regulate the production of anti-gp120 IgA antibodies in the DNA prime-protein boost gp120 vaccine model.

Gp120 immunization is described in Fig. 25. Serum anti-gp120 specific IgA titers measured by ELISA are shown. Graph shows mean +/- SEM, n= 4-6. \*\*p < 0.01 (student t test). Data are from one experiment.

## 3.3.5: TFR cells regulate anti-dsDNA IgA antibody production in pristine induced lupus model.

A major function of Tregs is the maintenance of self-tolerance, in order to prevent autoimmune diseases such as SLE. SLE patients exhibit high titers of pathogenic auto-antibodies and they usually have impaired Treqs, both in number and function [120, 121]. We hypothesized that loss of TFR cells could make Bcl6FC mice more susceptible to SLE due to defective control of autoantibody production. Control and Bcl6FC mice were injected i.p. with pristine to induce a lupus-like syndrome [122, 123]. Four months after treatment, both control and Bcl6FC mice were healthy and without any sign of arthritis, a symptom sometimes seen in the pristine model. As with other immune challenge models, we did not find any changes in TFH- or GC B-cell populations between control and Bcl6FC mice (data not shown). Control and Bcl6FC mice had similar titers of anti-dsDNA IgM and IgG antibodies in serum (Fig. 27A-B). However, we found significantly elevated anti-dsDNA IgA serum antibodies in Bcl6FC mice (Fig. 27C). Thus, in the pristane-induced lupus model, TFR cells repress production of anti-dsDNA IgA, but not other isotypes of anti-dsDNA autoantibodies.



## Figure 27. TFR cells regulate the production of anti-dsDNA IgA antibodies in Pristane-induced lupus model.

Four months after single 0.5 ml pristane i.p. injection, serum samples were collected from control and Bcl6FC mice for anti-dsDNA antibody detection by ELISA. (A) Anti-dsDNA IgM, (B) anti-dsDNA IgG and (C) anti-dsDNA IgA titers are shown. The X-axis labels are dilution factors. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 6-7. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (two-way ANOVA). Data are combined from two independent experiments.

TFR cells regulate cytokine production by TFH cells. Cytokines produced by TFH cells can promote GC B-cell proliferation and survival. Therefore we checked the production of cytokines (IFN-γ, IL-4, IL-10 and IL-21) known to be expressed by TFH cells in splenic PD-1<sup>hi</sup>, PD-1<sup>int</sup> and PD-1<sup>neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells described previously [112]. Control and Bcl6FC mice were analyzed 10 days after SRBC immunization (Fig. 28A). As shown in Fig. 28B, PD-1<sup>hi</sup> TFH cells in Bcl6FC mice expressed significantly higher levels of several cytokines: IFN-γ, IL-10 and IL-21. There was no difference in IFN-γ and IL-21 expression by PD-1<sup>int</sup> and PD-1<sup>neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells between control and Bcl6FC mice, however T cells generally produced more IL-10 in Bcl6FC mice (Fig. 28C-D). We observed a very similar cytokine phenotype in the TFH cells in the gp120 DNA prime protein boost model (data not shown). Taken together, these data show TFR cells specifically regulated IFN-γ and IL-21 production by TFH cells, with little effect on cytokine production by PD-1<sup>int</sup> or PD-1<sup>neg</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.



IFNg

IL-4

IL-21

IL-10

IFNg

IL-10

IL-4

IL-21

### Figure 28. TFR cells regulate IFN-γ, IL-10 and IL-21 production in TFH cells.

(A) PD-1<sup>hi</sup>, PD-1<sup>int</sup> and PD-1<sup>neg</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells gates. TFH cells are defined as CD4<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> cells. Percentages of cytokine-producing (IFN-  $\gamma$ , IL-4, IL-10 and IL-21) in CD4<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup>TFH (B), CD4<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>int</sup>T (C) and CD4<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>neg</sup>T cells (D) from control and Bcl6FC mice 10 days after SRBC immunization measured by ICS are shown. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 6-7. \*p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (student t test). Data are combined from two independent experiments.

### 3.4: Discussion.

Here we have further characterized the phenotype and function of TFR cells. We show that TFR cells express much lower level of CD25 and higher level of inhibitory molecule TIGIT than non-TFR Tregs. We have used the Bcl6FC mouse strain to specifically delete Bcl6 in Tregs to analyze the regulation of TFH cells and the GC reaction by TFR cells. Unexpectedly, TFR cells do not regulate population numbers of TFH or GC B cells, but regulate the normal antibody response following immune challenge, as shown with several models. Strikingly, TFR cells can suppress the generation of IgA anti-dsDNA antibodies in a pristane-induced autoimmune setting. Finally, TFH cells consistently secrete more cytokines in the absence of TFR cells, and we propose that this alters the cytokine milieu and affects the selection of GC B cells, leading to an abnormal antibody response.

The Bcl6FC mouse model is much more amenable to future in-depth experimentation than currently published approaches to specifically analyze TFR-cell function. These mice can be bred in large numbers and will be useful to assess the role of TFR cells in a wide variety of different immune conditions, from infection to autoimmunity. The Bcl6FC model stands in contrast to other approaches to analyze TFR cells in which total Tregs were depleted after immunization [60, 61]. Total loss of Tregs can lead to wide-ranging immune activation that could impact the GC response by indirect means than by TFR cells, such as by affecting early T cell proliferation before TFH differentiation has occurred. Another approach used to study TFR-cell function is to transfer T

helper cells plus or minus TFR cells into T cell-deficient animals, and analyze the antibody responses after immunization [60, 62, 64]. However, this approach has limitations in performing large numbers of such reconstitutions, and it is not clear whether such a reconstituted GC response is physiological. Another study deleted NFAT2 in Tregs or total CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to study the function of TFR cells [104]. However the TFR-cell deletion efficiency of this model was only about 50% and this study primarily focused on the up-regulation of CXCR5 of TFR cells by NFAT2, without characterizing a more general Treg defect due to the deletion of NFAT2. Thus, the Bcl6FC mouse model shown here has much promise for further studies into TFR cell function.

CD25 is one of the three subunits of IL-2 receptor whose signaling is critical for Treg differentiation, maintenance and survival [124, 125]. The downregulated IL-2 signaling in TFR cells due to their low expression of CD25 may explain the high rate of cell death of TFR cells (Fig. 22). Of note, the remaining few TFR cells in Bcl6FC mice have significantly higher levels of cell death than WT TFR cells (Fig. 22). This indicates that Bcl6 may stabilize the survival of TFR cells by counteracting the stress caused by a decreased level of IL-2 signaling. Importantly, unlike non-TFR Tregs, CD25 is not a reliable surface marker for detecting TFR cells.

As noted in the introduction, other studies observed expanded TFH- and GC B-cell responses in the absence of TFR cells. We propose that this is because in these earlier studies, total Tregs were depleted, which led to enhanced early TFH priming or stronger responses during an ongoing GC

response. One possibility with our Bcl6FC mouse model is that the Treqs cannot up-regulate Bcl6 and thus are displaced outside the B cell follicle. In theory, these displaced Tregs could more strongly suppress developing TFH responses on the edge of the B cell follicle, and this could then mask the effect of loss of TFR cells on TFH cells within the GC, and balance out the stronger TFH/GC responses that would be otherwise seen without TFR cells. While this is a possibility, we show in Fig. 28C that PD1- and CXCR5-intermediate Foxp3<sup>-</sup> T cells, which can be considered as early- or pre-TFH cells, do not have a decreased expression of cytokines as evidence of increased Treg suppression. Also, in the Bcl6FC mice, there is not a decreased percentage of PD1- and CXCR5-intermediate Foxp3- T cells (early/pre-TFH cells) that would be consistent with increased suppression by Tregs at this stage (Fig. 23). Another possibility is that the few TFR cells left in the Bcl6FC mice are enough to prevent abnormal outgrowth of TFH and GC B cells. While this is hard to rule out completely, we doubt that any other system used previously was able to delete TFR cells more completely than we have here, and further, the few remaining TFR cells in Bcl6FC mice are undergoing increased apoptosis (Fig. 22).

Previous studies on TFR cells led to conflicting results on the precise role of TFR cells in controlling antibody responses [60-62, 105]. In general, previous work was in agreement with the idea that TFR cells suppress the size of the GC response. However, previous studies came to different conclusions on the effect of TFR cells on the antibody response. These differing results reflected the systems used to analyze TFR function, which had limitations, as discussed

above. In our study, we used multiple immunization models, immunization with SRBC, NP-KLH/Alum, HIV gp120 DNA prime protein boost vaccination and pristane treatment. In none of these models, did loss of TFR cells lead to an increase of GC B-cell populations at any of the time-points we examined. Unexpectedly, we observed a decrease in Ag-specific IgG production and an increase in Ag-specific IgA production in the Bcl6FC mice, showing a novel role for TFR cells in controlling isotype switching of antibodies. We currently do not know whether in the absence of TFR cells, there is a deviation of the normal IgG response to an IgA response, or whether there are separate defects causing these opposite effects on Ig isotype. In general, the decrease in IgG titer is stronger than the increase in IgA titer, indicating that there is not a simple compensating switch from IgG switching to IgA. Likely, the altered cytokine expression we observe from TFH cells from Bcl6FC mice contributes to the decreased IgG and increased IgA. Answering this question will require a great deal of additional research.

In the HIV-1 gp120 model [110, 111], we observed a decrease in the affinity of anti-gp120 antibodies. One possible explanation for this result, as pointed out in Linterman et al [61], is the expansion of non-gp120-specific or low-affinity Ag-specific GC B cells in the absence of TFR cells. In this model, Bcl6FC mice develop normal titers of anti-gp120 IgG antibodies but with significantly decreased avidity. Probably due to the long term repeated challenge nature of this vaccination strategy, the Bcl6FC mice were able to produce normal titers of antibody but still could not produce highest affinity antibodies due to abnormal

GC B cell selection in the absence of TFR cells. These findings suggest that monitoring TFR cells during the course of vaccination may help predict vaccine efficacy in producing high-affinity antibodies.

TIGIT is an important co-inhibitory molecule on Tregs for controlling proinflammatory Th1 and Th17 cells [117]. We demonstrate here that TFR cells express high levels of TIGIT. In the absence of TFR cells, therefore there is a lack of TIGIT-mediated immune suppression from TFR cells in GCs in Bcl6FC mice. Accordingly, we observed increases in production of IFN-y, a Th1 cytokine, and IL-21, a Th17 or TFH cytokine, by TFH cells in these mice after SRBC immunization or gp120 vaccination. TFH cells themselves express multiple negative immune checkpoint regulators such as, PD-1, BTLA and TIGIT [65, 115, 116], which may relate to why we did not find any abnormality in the size of TFH cell population. Competition for IL-21, a known B cell growth factor, could enhance survival of high-affinity clones throughout the GC response [126, 127]. The increase of IL-21 production by TFH cells in GCs in Bcl6FC mice could provide an enhanced survival signal to non-antigen-specific or low-affinity B cell clones, leading to the decrease in titers of anti-SRBC IgG antibodies and in the avidity of anti-gp120 IgG antibodies.

Tregs are important for the maintenance of the immunological tolerance and self-/non-self-discrimination [125]. One of the hallmarks of SLE is the generation of anti-dsDNA auto-antibodies in which the GC response plays an important role [128]. The discovery of TFR cells gives us a great opportunity to better understand the regulation of GC response in SLE. We used a pristane-

induced lupus model with our Bcl6FC mice. Either the genetic background of our mice (C57BI/6) is not ideal for pristane treatment [129] or the 4 month incubation period after pristane treatment was not long enough, since neither control mice nor Bcl6FC mice developed severe disease symptoms. However the GC B cell response and antibodies against dsDNA did arise from pristane treatment. We observed a significant increase of anti-dsDNA lgA titer in the absence of TFR cells indicating a critical role of TFR cells in controlling autoimmune GC response in SLE. The increase in production of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-21 by TFH cells in Bcl6FC mice could be an additional reason for elevated IgA anti-dsDNA antibody titer, since both IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-21 are involved the generation of auto-antibodies [130, 131]. In the clinic, an elevated level of IgA anti-dsDNA antibodies is associated with kidney and joint abnormalities in SLE patients [132, 133]. Regulation of the GC response by the TFR cells in SLE patients or other autoimmune diseases is an important area for future investigation.

Overall, our study helps to expand on, clarify and reconcile some of the previous findings on TFR cells. We show TFR cells can promote normal levels and types of antibody responses against foreign antigens, help maintain antibody affinity and regulate generation of anti-self antigen antibodies in autoimmune responses. Our TFR cell-specific deletion mouse model should be further used for understanding the role of TFR cells in vaccination and in controlling pathogenic antibody responses.

### Chapter 4 - STAT3 is important for Follicular Regulatory T cell differentiation

### 4.1: Introduction.

To provide host protection against pathogens, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells differentiate into several distinct lineages that confer specific effector functions. For instance, viral or intracellular pathogens typically induce protective Th1 responses, while helminth parasites induce Th2 responses. TFH cells are a T helper cell lineage whose major function is to help B cells form GCs and produce high-affinity antibodies [102, 103]. Commitment of naive T cells to these different effector lineages is highly dependent on the cytokines present in the immunological milieu. Cytokine receptor signaling activates specific transcription factor pathways. STAT4-Tbet, STAT6-GATA3 and STAT3-RORy promote Th1, Th2 and Th17 cell differentiation respectively [134]. TFH cell differentiation is driven by the transcriptional repressor Bcl6, which can be induced downstream of STAT1, STAT3 or STAT4 signaling [56, 57, 72, 76, 135]. TFH cells control the initiation as well as the outcome of the GC B cell response. While TFH cells are critical for the proper production of antibodies, the over-production of TFH cells can lead to autoimmunity, since TFH cells can help B cells to produce selfreactive antibodies [69-71]. Thus, the proper regulation of TFH and GC B cell responses is essential both for normal immune function and for preventing autoimmune disease.

Treg cells repress the activation, proliferation and function of effector T helper cells during immune responses and are critical to restrain autoimmune responses. In both humans and mice, deficiency of Foxp3 results in a fatal multiorgan autoimmune disorder. Specifically, Foxp3-mutant Scurfy mice have uncontrolled T cell proliferation and drastically elevated inflammation mediated by Th1, Th2 and Th17 responses as well as exacerbated production of autoreactive antibodies [136, 137]. Previous studies showed multiple subsets of Treg cells possess unique regulatory properties to repress corresponding pathological immune responses. For example, Tbet controls Treg functions during Th1 mediated inflammation [138]. IRF-4 in Treg cells is important for regulation of Th2 responses [139]. Deletion of STAT3 in Treg cells results in dysregulation of Th17 responses [89]. Recently, a subpopulation of Treg cells in the GCs was discovered that appears to act as suppressors of TFH and GC B cells. These regulatory follicular T cells or "TFR" cells depend on Bcl6 for differentiation and chemokine receptor CXCR5 to localize to the B cell follicle [60-62].

Ding et al revealed that IL-21, which activates STAT3 signaling, can suppress TFR cell differentiation in BXD2 autoimmune mice [140]. In contrast, IL-6-STAT3 and IL-21-STAT3 signaling promote TFH cell differentiation by induction of Bcl6 expression [56, 72, 141]. It is therefore important to determine whether STAT3 promotes or inhibits TFR cell development. Treg cells tend to adopt part of the transcriptional program of the specific T helper cell subsets they regulate. Therefore, the requirement for STAT3 in Treg cells to suppress TFH

cell mediated humoral responses is of particular interest. Previous studies show TFR and TFH cells derived from Treg cells [142] or Th17 cells [143] in PPs promote the diversification and selection of IgA antibodies which in turn maintain the bacterial diversity at the mucosal barrier in the gut. However, in Treg cells, the role of STAT3 in the regulation of gut microbiota is not clear.

Here, we found that STAT3 is essential for TFR cell differentiation both in spleen following antigen immunization and in PPs. Deletion of STAT3 causes a much more severe defect in TFR cell differentiation than in TFH cell differentiation. Interestingly, loss of TFR cells in STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup>Foxp3<sup>cre</sup> mice has no effect on the size of TFH or GC B cell populations after immunization, but does lead to increased production of antigen-specific IgG antibodies.

### 4.2: Materials and Methods.

**Mice and immunizations.** STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice were crossed with CD4-cre transgenic mice or Foxp3-YFP-cre mice. Bcl6<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice were crossed with Foxp3-YFP-cre mice. Foxp3-YFP-cre mice and BoyJ mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (JAX). For STAT3KO mice, littermate STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice were used as WT control. For STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup>Foxp3<sup>cre</sup> (STAT3FC) or Bcl6FC mice, littermate Foxp3<sup>cre</sup> mice were used as WT control. Mice were bred under specific pathogen-free conditions at the laboratory animal facility at IUSM and were handled according to protocols approved by the IUSM Animal Care and use Committee. For SRBC immunization, mice were i.p. injected with 1 x 10<sup>9</sup> SRBCs (Rockland Immunochemicals) and were sacrificed at the indicated day.

**Flow cytometry reagents.** Anti-CXCR5 (2G8) and GL7 (GL7) antibodies were from BD Biosciences. Fixable viability dye, anti-CD38 and anti-Foxp3 (FJK-16s) antibodies were from eBioscience. Anti-CD4 (GK1.5), anti-B220 (RA3-6B2), anti-CD45.1 (A20) and anti-PD-1 (29F.1A12) were from Biolegend.

**Cell staining for flow cytometry.** After red blood cell lysis, total spleen cells were incubated with anti-mouse CD16/CD32 (BioXcell) for 5 minutes at room temperature, followed by surface staining for the indicated markers. For intracellular transcription factor staining, after surface markers were stained, cells were fixed and stained with antibodies against transcription factors by following the Foxp3 fixation kit (eBioscience) instructions. Cell events were collected on an LSRII flow cytometer (Becton Dickonson).

**Peyer's patch isolation.** PPs were cut using scissors from the small intestine and incubated for 10 mins at 37 °C in PBS containing 1% FBS, 4mM EDTA and 15 mM HEPES (PH 7.2). PPs were washed twice, with vigorous vortexing before spinning, in PBS. Soluble cell debris in supernatants was removed after centrifugation. Isolated PPs were broken apart between two frosted glass microscope slides to generate single cell suspension for flow cytometry staining or ICS described above.

**Bone marrow chimeras.** Recipient CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice were lethally irradiated with 1,100 Rad and reconstituted with 2x10<sup>6</sup> a mixture of nucleated bone marrow cells from either CD45.2<sup>+</sup> WT mice plus CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice, or CD45.2<sup>+</sup> STAT3KO mice plus CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice by i.v. injection. Chimeric mice were immunized with SRBC approximately 12 weeks after reconstitution.

Antibody titer analysis. Antibody titers of SRBC-specific in serum were measured by ELISA, as previously reported. Briefly, 96 well Nunc-Immuno plates (Sigma) were coated with SRBC membrane protein overnight at 4 °C. Wells were blocked with 10% FCS and diluted serum was added and incubated at room temperature for 2 h. A peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse IgG was used as secondary antibody.

**16s rRNA sequencing and data analysis.** Cecum samples were stored at -80 until use. DNA was purified with PowerFecal DNA isolation kit (MO BIO) according with manufacturer's instructions. Sample sequencing and data analysis were performed at LC Sciences. Briefly, DNA samples were amplified using V3-V4 region primers (U341F, 533R) targeting bacterial 16s rRNA genes. Sequencing was carried out with an Illumia MiSeq sequencer. Sequencing data were processed and analyzed with QIIME.

**Statistical Analysis.** All data analysis was done using Prism Graphpad software. Unless otherwise stated, Student t test or ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis were used. Only significant differences (p < 0.05) are indicated in figures.

#### 4.3: Results.

4.3.1: STAT3 deficiency in T cells results in a decrease of TFH cells and a block of TFR cell differentiation.

To test whether STAT3 is required for the differentiation of TFR cells, we immunized control and STAT3KO mice with SRBC and found that loss of STAT3

severely blocked the differentiation of Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD1<sup>hi</sup> TFR cells (Fig. 29A, C). Consistent with our previous results [112], in STAT3KO mice, deletion of STAT3 leads to a decrease of Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD1<sup>hi</sup> TFH cell in cell number, but not in percentage (Fig. 29B, D). Both TFH cells and TFR cells were significantly decreased, however TFR cells were almost gone whereas 60% of TFH cells still remained in the absence of STAT3 in T cells. We calculated the relative decrease levels for TFH and TFR cells due to deletion of STAT3, and found that the proportional loss of TFR cells is much higher than for TFH cells (Fig. 29E). These results suggest that STAT3 in CD4 T cells are required for normal TFH and TFR cell differentiation.







**Relative Decrease** 

TFR

\*\*\*

•

TFH

## Figure 29. STAT3KO mice have impaired TFH and TFR cell responses following SRBC immunization.

Control and STAT3KO mice were immunized with SRBC via i.p. injection. Spleens were isolated for flow cytometric analysis at 7 dpi. (A and B) Flow cytometry plots of TFR cells which are CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> (A) and TFH cells which are CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> (B). (C) TFR cells percentages (left) and numbers (right) gated as in (A). (D) TFH cells percentages (left) and numbers (right) gated as in (B). (E) Analysis of data in (C and D) showing relative decrease of TFH cells and TFR cells in STAT3KO mice compared to the ones in control mice. Relative decrease = [(% CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> cells in control mice – % CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> cells in STAT3KO mice)/% CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> cells in control mice] × 100. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 7. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (student t test). Data are combined from two independent experiments.

### 4.3.2: The differentiation defect in TFR cell is Treg cell intrinsic.

The population of GC B cells was dramatically decreased in STAT3KO mice [112] and B cells are important for TFR cell differentiation and maintenance [144]. The loss of TFR cells in STAT3KO mice could be due to either lack of GC B cell support or loss of intrinsic STAT3 function. To investigate these possibilities, we generated mixed BM chimeras in which we transferred CD45.1 BM donor cells from WT or STAT3KO mice mixed with CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BM donor cells from BoyJ mice into lethally irradiated CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BoyJ mice. After 3 months of engraftment, we immunized the chimera mice with SRBC and analyzed spleen cells at 7 days dpi. Both mice received WT BM and STAT3KO BM had similar populations of GC B cells (data not shown). WT donor cells were able to differentiate into TFR and TFH cells, whereas STAT3KO donor cells had a severe defect in TFR and TFH cells (Fig. 30D-E). Importantly, the decrease of TFR cells was much higher than of TFH cells in the chimera mice (Fig. 30F), consistent with the results from the directly immunized WT and STAT3KO mice. These results suggest that TFR cell differentiation intrinsically requires STAT3. Moreover, TFR cell differentiation is more dependent on STAT3 signaling than is TFH cell differentiation.



## Figure 30. Intrinsic defect of STAT3-deficient TFH and TFR cell differentiation.

CD45.1<sup>-</sup> bone marrow (BM) cells from WT or STAT3KO mice mixed with CD45.1<sup>+</sup> BM cells from BoyJ mice were transplanted into lethally irradiated BoyJ mice. Three months later, chimera mice were immunized with SRBC via i.p. injection. Spleens were isolated for flow cytometric analysis at 7 dpi. (A) Flow cytometry plots of splenic CD45.1<sup>-</sup> cells derived from WT or STAT3KO donor BM. (B) Flow cytometry plots of TFR cells which are CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> generated from WT (left) and STAT3KO (right) donor BM. (C) Flow cytometry plots of TFH cells which are CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> generated from WT (left) and STAT3KO (right) donor BM. (D) TFR and (E) TFH cells percentages gated as in (B) and (C) respectively. (F) Analysis of data in D and E showing relative decrease of TFH cells and TFR cells from STAT3KO donor BM compared to the ones from WT donor BM. Relative decrease = [(% CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> cells from WT BM - % CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> cells from STAT3KO BM)/% CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> cells from WT BM] × 100. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 7-8. \*\*\* p < 0.001 (student t test). Data are combined from two independent experiments.

## 4.3.3: Loss of TFR cells does not lead to an increased TFH cell population in STAT3FC mice.

In order to assess the function role of STAT3 in Treg cells regulating GC response, we created STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup>Foxp3<sup>cre</sup> (STAT3FC) mice, where floxed STAT3 allele is deleted specifically in Foxp3 expressing T cells. In contrast to previous study [89], STAT3FC mice are healthy, fertile, do not display abnormal inflammation and have grossly normal immune cell compartments (data not shown) by at least 5 months of age. We immunized WT and STAT3FC mice with SRBC and analyzed TFH and TFR cells in spleen at 10 dpi. As expected, the differentiation of Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> TFR cells was strongly diminished in STAT3FC mice (Fig. 31A, C). We did not see an increase in the proportion or number of TFH cells in immunized STAT3FC mice (Fig. 31B, D). This result is not unique to SRBC immunization, as STAT3FC mice also had comparable TFH cell population as control mice did at 25 dpi of SRBC immunization as well as KLH-Alum immunization (data not shown). We also found a similar phenotype in Bcl6FC mice, where Bcl6 is specifically deleted in Treg cells [145]. Bcl6FC mice had severely depleted TFR cells, however they had normal TFH cell differentiation in spleen after immunization. Thus, TFR cells are strongly decreased in STAT3FC mice, however loss of TFR cells does not lead to an enlarged TFH cell population.





## Figure 31. Loss of TFR cells in STAT3FC mice does not affect the size of TFH cell population after SRBC immunization.

Control and STAT3FC mice were immunized with SRBC via i.p. injection. Spleens were isolated for flow cytometric analysis at 10 dpi. (A and B) Flow cytometry plots of TFR cells which are CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>+</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> (A) and TFH cells which are CD4<sup>+</sup>Foxp3<sup>-</sup>CXCR5<sup>hi</sup>PD-1<sup>hi</sup> (B). (C) TFR cells percentages (left) and numbers (right) gated as in (A). (D) TFH cells percentages (left) and numbers (right) gated as in (B). Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 9. \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (student t test). Data are combined from three independent experiments.
4.3.4: Loss of TFR cells does not lead to an increased GC B cell population in STAT3FC mice but increases the generation of antigen-specific IgG antibodies.

Previous reports show TFR cells can directly inhibit B cell responses [60-62]. We next wondered whether this is the case in our STAT3FC mice. Interestingly, at 10 dpi, similar sizes of B220<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>GL7<sup>+</sup> GC B cell populations were formed in control and STAT3FC mice (Fig. 32A-B). Similar to our observations with TFH cells, this result of unchanged GC B cell numbers in the absence of TFR cells was observed at 25 dpi for both SRBC and KLH-Alum immunization. This is again consistent with our data from Bcl6FC mice [145]. Since the outcome of GC response is to generate high-affinity antigen-specific antibodies, we next analyzed SRBC-specific IgG serum antibody titers at 10, 15 and 25 dpi by ELISA. We found that, at all three time points, the titers of anti-SRBC IgG antibodies were significantly increased in STAT3FC mice. The magnitude of the titer increase for STAT3FC mice became larger over time and the anti-SRBC IgG antibody titer at 25 dpi showed the largest difference (Fig. 32C). These results indicate that STAT3 is required for Treg/TFR cells to suppress antigen-specific antibody production. We next analyzed the specific subtypes of IgG Abs increased in STAT3FC mice, as well as whether other types of Abs are controlled by STAT3-dependent TFR cells. As shown in Fig. 33, the specific IgG subtypes increased in the absence of STAT3-dependent TFR cells are IgG1 and IgG2b. SRBC-specific IgG2c and IgG3 Abs were detected, but were not increased in STAT3FC mice (Fig. 33). SRBC-specific IgM and IgA

responses were elevated in STAT3FC mice but the increase was not significant (Fig. 33).









# Figure 32. Loss of TFR cells in STAT3FC mice does not affect the size of GC B cell population after SRBC immunization.

Control and STAT3FC mice were immunized with SRBC. Spleens were isolated for flow cytometric analysis at 10 dpi. (A) Flow cytometry plots of GC B cells which are B220<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>GL7<sup>+</sup>. (B) GC B cells percentages (left) and numbers (right) gated as in (A). (C) Serum samples were collected at 10, 15 and 25 dpi following SRBC immunization. Anti-SRBC IgG titers are shown. The X-axis shows the dilution factors. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, (B) n = 9, (C) n = 5. \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (student t test for B, two-way ANOVA for C). For B, data are combined from three independent experiments. For C, data are representative of three independent experiments with similar results.



# Figure 33. TFR cells regulate the production of anti-SRBC IgG1 and anti-SRBC IgG2b.

Control and STAT3FC mice were immunized with SRBC via i.p. injection. Serum samples were collected at 25 dpi. Anti-SRBC IgM, anti-SRBC IgG1, anti-SRBC IgG2b, anti-SRBC IgG2c, anti-SRBC IgG3 and anti-SRBC IgA titers are shown. The X-axis shows the dilution factors. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 4. \*\* p < 0.01, \*\*\* p < 0.001 (two-way ANOVA). Data are representative of two independent experiments with similar results.

## 4.3.5: STAT3 function in Treg cells is also required for TFR cell differentiation in Peyer's patches.

A previous study showed that Treg cells can differentiate into TFH cells in PPs in the small intestine [146]. We found that STAT3 is required for both TFH and TFR cell differentiation in spleen (Fig. 29C-D, 30D-E). To further investigate the role of STAT3 in Treg cells in PPs, we examined TFR and TFH cell differentiation in PPs in STAT3FC mice. In STAT3FC mice, TFR cell differentiation was severely decreased, but TFH cell and GC B cell differentiation was left intact (Fig. 34B-C). These results are unchanged when absolute numbers of these cell populations are analyzed (data not shown). GC B cells switch to IgG1 and IgA at high rates in the PP, and we were able to detect about 20% of PP GC B cells that expressed IgG1 and about 20% that expressed IgA (Fig. 34D-E). However, switching to IgG1 and IgA in the PP was not perturbed by the loss of TFR cells in STAT3FC mice (Fig. 34D-E). Overall, these results indicate that STAT3 is required for TFR formation in the PP, but STAT3dependent TFR cells do not grossly affect TFH or GC B cell numbers or isotype class switching in the PP. Our data show that TFR cells are almost completely STAT3-dependent for their formation, but that STAT3-dependent TFR cells have little impact on TFH and GC B cell proliferation. Overall, STAT3-dependent TFR cells have relatively subtle roles in fine-tuning the GC and Ab response.



Figure 34. In Peyer's patches, Treg cell specific STAT3 deletion leads to the loss of TFR cells and does not have an effect on TFH, GC B cells, as well as IgG1<sup>+</sup> and IgA<sup>+</sup> GC B cells.

PPs from control and STAT3FC mice were isolated and homogenized into single cell suspensions for flow cytometric analysis. The percentages of TFR cells (A), TFH cells (B), GC B cells (C), IgA<sup>+</sup> GC B cells (D) and IgG1<sup>+</sup> GC B cells (E) are shown. Graphs show mean +/- SEM, n = 7. \*\*\* p < 0.001 (student t test). Data are combined from two independent experiments.

### 4.4: Discussion.

In this study, we found that STAT3 is required for TFR cell differentiation in spleen after antigen immunization as well as in PPs that receive constitutive antigen stimulation from gut microbiota. Mice with deletion of STAT3 in Treg cells still have normal differentiation of TFH and GC B cells, however the production of antigen-specific IgG1 and IgG2b antibodies is strongly increased in these mice. In addition, switching to IgA and IgG1 in PP GC B cells was not affected by the loss of TFR cells due to Treg-specific STAT3 deletion. Thus, our study has unveiled an essential role for STAT3 in TFR cell differentiation as well as revealed the complex regulatory function of TFR cells on antibody production.

Treg cells and effector T cells in a given immune response experience the same immunological microenvironment including cytokine signals, and therefore, similar to effector T cells, Treg cells express certain lineage determining transcription factors, like Bcl6, Tbet, IRF4 and STAT3 [147], to promote their lineage-specific suppression function. For TFR and TFH cells, they share similar differentiation process, activated by DCs in the T cell zone and maintained by B cells in the GC [148]. They express similar signature genes, CXCR5, PD-1, ICOS and Bcl6, which indicates that similar upstream genes or signaling might be involved in both TFR and TFH cell differentiation. Since the T cell zone and the GC are rich in IL-6 and IL-21, STAT3 signaling is one of the potential lineage determining pathways shared by TFH cells and TFR cells. Here we found that, in both an antigen immunization model and in PPs, STAT3 is indispensible for TFR cell differentiation. Ding et al [140] showed that IL-21 can suppress TFR cell

differentiation while promoting TFH cell differentiation in BXD2 autoimmune mice. However, since STAT1 and STAT3 can be downstream of IL-21 receptor signaling [149], STAT1 may inhibit the differentiation of TFR cells while STAT3 promotes TFR differentiation. Another possibility is that chronic inflammation in BXD2 mice causes the expansion of TFH but not TFR cells, and thus IL-21 does not truly inhibit TFR cell differentiation. Of note, our data from chimeric mice suggest that TFR cells are intrinsically more dependent on STAT3 signaling for differentiation than TFH cells. Our data indicate that in STAT3-deficient conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, Bcl6 still can be up-regulated by STAT1 or STAT4 to allow significant TFH cell differentiation. However, in STAT3-deficient Treg cells, STAT1 or STAT4 cannot compensate the TFR cell differentiation defect in the absence of STAT3.

Chaudhry et al reported that Treg cell specific deletion of STAT3 in mice can lead to severe autoimmune diseases in multiple organs by 12-14 weeks of age [89]. However, similar to what was observed with Kluger et al [150, 151], our STAT3FC mice are healthy, fertile, have normal sized lymphoid organs and do not display abnormal inflammation up to 5 months of age. One difference with our work and Chaudry et al is that we use different strains of STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice. Exons 16-21 of STAT3 locus are floxed in our STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice [81], whereas exons 21-22 are floxed in Chaudhry et al's STAT3<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice [152]. However, both types of STAT3 deletions lead to complete loss of STAT3 function [81, 152]. Thus, a likely explanation is that different housing conditions, differences in specific pathogen-

free conditions or differences in endogenous flora in the animal facilities lead to phenotypic differences for similar strains of mutant mice [153].

Our data here with STAT3FC mice helps explain some of the findings of Kluger et al, who used similar mice with conditional deletion of STAT3 by Foxp3cre to investigate autoimmune kidney disease [150, 151]. For ease of discussion, we will also term these Kluger et al conditional STAT3 knockout mice as "STAT3FC". In one study with these mice, crescentic glomerulonephritis was induced by injection of nephrotoxic sheep serum [151]. In this study, higher levels of disease were seen in the STAT3FC mice, along with elevated levels of sheep Ig-reactive IgG2b and IgG2c. Our data presented here indicate that these increased IgG responses were likely due to the loss of TFR cells. Interestingly, IgG2b was elevated in STAT3FC mice in both our study and the sheep serum study [151], and IgG2b switching is known to be promoted by TGF-beta signaling [154]. Increased TGF-beta was observed in the STAT3FC mice by Kluger et al [151], which may explain the increased IgG2b responses in these mice. In a second study, pristane was used to induce lupus-like nephritis [150]. In contrast to the crescentic glomerulonephritis study [151], auto-immune Abs induced by pristane were similar or significantly lower in STAT3FC mice compared to controls, despite increased kidney disease, increased Th17 responses and greatly increased death from pulmonary vasculitis in the STAT3FC mice [150]. The question then arises: why weren't increased IgG responses seen in the pristane model? We have data that the repressive function of STAT3-dependent TFR cells on IgG responses can depend on the type of antigen used. We tested

an HIV gp120 prime-boost immunization model in the STAT3FC mice but observed no differences in overall anti-gp120 IgG titer or affinity (data not shown). The HIV gp120 immunization model involves multiple injections over several months [110, 145], and like pristane injection, is more like a chronic immune response than an acute immunization response. Thus, STAT3dependent TFR cells may play a more critical role in limiting Ig production during acute immune responses than in chronic immune responses

Other studies on TFR cells have observed increased TFH and GC B cell responses in the absence of TFR cells [60-62]. However, our STAT3FC mice have normal sizes of TFH and GC B cell populations both in spleen after immunization and in PPs. Our findings here showing limited TFR cell effects on TFH and GC B cells are consistent with a separate study of TFR cell function we conducted using Bcl6FC mice. Bcl6FC mice also have a severe loss of TFR cells yet have similar sizes of TFH and GC B cell populations compared to their WT controls [145]. One possibility is that the non-physiological conditions caused by T cell transfer into T cell deficient mice, and the non-specific effects of total Treg cell depletion led to the enhanced TFH and GC B cell responses observed in earlier studies of TFR cells.

With STAT3FC mice, we see increased production of SRBC-specific IgG antibodies, without a change in SRBC-specific IgA. This contrasts with Bcl6FC mice, where we observed decreased SRBC-specific IgG and increased SRBC-specific IgA along with decreased TFR cells [145]. The reason for this difference is not yet clear, but likely relates to how STAT3-dependent TFR cells act on TFH

cells compared to Bcl6-dependent TFR cells. With Bcl6FC mice, we observed increased cytokine production from TFH cells, whereas this was not observed in STAT3FC mice (data not shown). The increased cytokines made by TFH cells in Bcl6FC mice likely can explain the altered IgG and IgA responses in these mice. A skewing from IgG to IgA responses may explain the decreased IgG in Bcl6FC mice. Why loss of TFR cells in Bcl6FC mice, but not in STAT3FC mice, leads to alterations in cytokine production by TFH cells requires further in-depth study. Overall, TFH cells appear to be regulated in slightly different ways by STAT3-dependent TFR cells versus Bcl6-dependent TFR cells. However, our data are consistent in showing that TFR cells do not significantly control the proliferation of TFH and GC B cells in the GC reaction, but rather that TFR cells regulate the production of specific Ig isotypes.

Recent reports revealed that TFR cells derived from Treg cells, and TFH cells derived from Treg cells or Th17 cells are important for healthy microbiota in the gut, by supporting the production of diverse IgA Abs [142, 143]. However, we did not see any changes of total IgA<sup>+</sup> GC B cells in PP from STAT3FC mice. Since TFR cells in the PP can regulate the diversity of gut microbiota via modulation of antigen specific IgA [155], we evaluated the impact of loss of TFR cells in PPs on gut microbiota in STAT3FC mice. We collected cecal contents from WT and STAT3FC mice to analyze the gut bacterial composition by 16s rRNA sequencing. However, we were not able to detect a significant difference in

bacterial diversity in the gut in STAT3FC mice using this approach (data not shown).

In summary, our study demonstrates the important role of STAT3 in TFR cell differentiation. We show that STAT3 in Treg cells is required for the suppression of antigen-specific antibody production, whereas TFR cells do not regulate the sizes of TFH and GC B cell responses. Further research on the role of STAT3 and Bcl6 in Treg cells on the regulation of humoral responses by TFR cells is warranted.

### Chapter 5 – Conclusions and future directions

### 5.1: Conclusions.

### 5.1.1: STAT3 intrinsically inhibit IL-4 and Bcl6 expression in TFH cells.

In chapter 2, we found that STAT3 can intrinsically inhibit IL-4 and Bcl6 expression in TFH cells. STAT3 function in TFH cells appears to be strongly dependent on the immune environment. In PPs, STAT3 suppressed IL-4 production in TFH cells and in turn suppressed IgG1 class switching of GC B cells, whereas, in spleen following SRBC immunization, the increase of IL-4 expression in STAT3-deficient TFH cells did not lead to the increase of IgG1 class switching of GC B cells. TFH cells have recently emerged as alternative major producers of IL-4 to regulate type 2 humoral immune responses, besides Th2 cells. IL-4 plays an important role in protective immunity against extracellular parasites and is also known to be a key player in allergic disease, such as asthma. TFH and Th2 cells utilize different mechanisms to regulate IL-4 production [97, 98]. The regulation of IL-4 expression in Th2 cells has been extensively characterized, however how IL-4 expression is regulated in TFH cells is not well understood. My dissertation work revealed a novel role of STAT3 in negatively regulating IL-4 production in TFH cells. Mechanistically, the suppression function of Bcl6 on IL-4 requires STAT3 function. STAT3 cooperates with Bcl6 to strongly suppress IL-4, in contrast to repression of IL-10 and IL-13 expression by Bcl6, which is relatively independent of STAT3. Our findings in

STAT3KO mice indicate that TFH cells in HIES patients may have increased IL-4 production as well that leads to high serum IgE level.

STAT3 signaling downstream of IL-6 and IL-21 induces the TFH master transcription factor Bcl6 to promote TFH cell differentiation and function, independent of Th1, Th2 and Th17 cell lineages [55]. The work of Ray et al [56] showed that STAT3 not only activates Bcl6 expression, but also represses the Type I IFN pathway that induces partial Th1 cell differentiation in TFH cells, in the context of acute LCMV infection. However, we found that Bcl6 expression was increased in STAT3-deficient TFH cells in immune settings we tested where type I IFN was not produced. We hypothesize that, in the absence of STAT3, other STATs, such as STAT1 and STAT4, may bind to the Bcl6 promoter and more strongly activate Bcl6 transcription. Therefore, during vaccine design, the activation of certain STATs signaling pathways may be beneficial.

In summary, we have revealed a much more complete picture of how STAT3 regulates TFH cell development and function. Our data suggest a critical role for STAT3 antagonizing the activity of other STAT factors that are potentially activated in CD4 T cells during the immune responses. Notably, STAT3 can act in TFH cells to either repress Bcl6 or to activate Bcl6, possibly depending on the activation of other STAT factors.

5.1.2: TFR cells repress cytokine production by TFH cells and optimize IgG response.

TFH cells provide crucial help to GC B cells for proper antibody production, and a specialized subset of regulatory T cells, TFR cells, modulate this process. However TFR-cell function in the GC is not well understood. In chapter 3, we define TFR cells as a CD4<sup>+</sup> Foxp3<sup>+</sup> CXCR5<sup>hi</sup> PD-1<sup>hi</sup> CD25<sup>low</sup> TIGIT<sup>high</sup> T-cell population. Furthermore, we have used a novel mouse model ("Bcl6FC") to delete the Bcl6 gene in Foxp3<sup>+</sup> T cells and thus specifically deplete TFR cells. Following immunization, Bcl6FC mice develop normal TFH- and GC B-cell populations. However, Bcl6FC mice produce altered antigen-specific antibody responses, with reduced titers of IgG and increased IgA. Bcl6FC mice also developed IgG antibodies with significantly decreased avidity to antigen in an HIV-1 gp120 "prime-boost" vaccine model. In an autoimmune lupus model, we observed strongly elevated anti-DNA IgA titers in Bcl6FC mice. Additionally, TFH cells from Bcl6FC mice consistently produce higher levels of IFN-y, IL-10 and IL-21. Loss of TFR cells therefore leads to highly abnormal TFH-cell and GC B-cell responses (Fig. 36). Overall, our study has uncovered unique regulatory roles for TFR cells in the GC response. And our findings suggest that TFR cells have therapeutic potential for autoimmune diseases, such as SLE, due to their autoreactive IgA antibody suppression function.



# Figure 35. Schematic representation of the regulation of GC reaction by TFR cells.

IL-21 is an important cytokine for B cell survival. TFR cells suppress IL-21 production in TFH cells and in turn inhibit the expansion of low affinity B cell clones. TFR cells also can inhibit the production of antigen specific IgA antibody, possibly by restraining the IL-10 production by TFH cells.

### 5.1.3: STAT3 is indispensable for TFR cell differentiation.

How TFR cells develop and how their suppressive activity functions are not well understood. In chapter 4, we found that STAT3 is indispensible for TFR cell differentiation. After immunization with SRBC, the loss of TFR cells caused by deletion of STAT3 in Treg cells does not affect the size of TFH or GC B cell population, but rather leads to strongly enhanced production of antigen-specific IgG1 and IgG2b. In Peyer's patches (PPs) in the gut, we found that STAT3 expression in Treg cells is also required for TFR cell formation to commensal organisms. However, loss of TFR cells in the gut did not affect the numbers of TFH cells and GC B cells, nor affect IgG1 or IgA switching by GC B cells. Overall, our study has uncovered unique roles of STAT3 in TFR cell differentiation and the regulation of the antibody response.

#### 5.2: Future directions.

#### 5.2.1: Future directions for chapter 2.

Recently, Sahoo et al [156] found that Batf is important for IL-4 expression in TFH cells. Batf can bind to the CNS2 region of the II4 locus which is specifically important for II4 gene transcription in TFH cells [97, 98]. In STAT3deficient TFH cells, there may be more Gata3 or Batf binding to the CNS2 region of the II4 locus. Another possibility is that Bcl6 may directly bind to this region and suppress the transcription of II4 and that STAT3 may be required for the direct binding of Bcl6 to the CNS2 region. To investigate this aim, we should sort out TFH cells by flow cytometry from control and STAT3KO mice after SRBC immunization and check the binding of Bcl6, Gata3 and Batf at the CNS2 region of the II4 locus.

### 5.2.2: Future directions for chapter 3 and 4.

With STAT3FC mice, we see increased production of SRBC-specific IgG antibodies, without a change in SRBC-specific IgA. This contrasts with Bcl6FC mice, where we observed decreased SRBC-specific IgG and increased SRBC-specific IgA along with decreased TFR cells [145]. The reason for this difference is not yet clear, but likely relates to how STAT3-dependent TFR cells act on TFH cells compared to Bcl6-dependent TFR cells. To test this idea, we would like to use a TFH/Treg/B cell co-culture system to study the effect of loss of Bcl6 and STAT3 in Treg cells on the antibody production and class switching. We will sort out TFH cells from WT mice following OVA/Alum immunization, and then culture these TFH cells with B cells with or without control or Bcl6 or STAT3-deficient Treg cells. In this setting, we hope to study how Bcl6 or STAT3-deficient Treg cells affect cytokine production in TFH cells and the antibody production in B cells.

Auto-reactive antibodies are involved in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune diseases, such as SLE and rheumatoid arthritis. These patients have uncontrolled effector T cell responses against self antigen, partially due to the defect in Treg cell function. By using Bcl6FC and STAT3FC mice, we would like to further study the role of TFR cells in the controlling of GC responses in

autoimmune disease models, such as a chromatin immunization model or experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. By using these autoimmune diseases models, we also would like to explore the therapeutic potential of TFR cells for autoimmune diseases.

Recent reports revealed that TFR cells derived from Treg cells, and TFH cells derived from Treg cells or Th17 cells are important for healthy microbiota in the gut, by supporting the production of diverse IgA Abs [142, 143]. It is intriguing to study the role of Bcl6 and STAT3 in Treg cells on the regulation of microbiota in the gut. Since we did not see any changes of microbiota composition in the absence of TFR cells at steady state by 16s rRNA sequencing analysis, we could use trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid induced inflammatory bowel disease model with our Bcl6FC mice and STAT3FC mice to study how TFR cells regulate gut microbiota under inflammatory condition.

## Reference

Janeway, C. A., Jr., Pillars article: approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold spring harb symp quant biol. 1989. 54: 1-13. J Immunol 2013. **191**: 4475-4487.

2 **Smale, S. T.,** Transcriptional regulation in the innate immune system. Curr Opin Immunol 2012. **24**: 51-57.

3 Janeway, C. A., Jr. and Medzhitov, R., Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 2002. **20**: 197-216.

4 **Ceredig, R., Rolink, A. G. and Brown, G.,** Models of haematopoiesis: seeing the wood for the trees. Nat Rev Immunol 2009. **9**: 293-300.

5 **Murray**, **P. J. and Wynn**, **T. A.**, Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol 2011. **11**: 723-737.

Ziegler-Heitbrock, L., Ancuta, P., Crowe, S., Dalod, M., Grau, V., Hart,D. N., Leenen, P. J., Liu, Y. J., MacPherson, G., Randolph, G. J.,

Scherberich, J., Schmitz, J., Shortman, K., Sozzani, S., Strobl, H., Zembala,

M., Austyn, J. M. and Lutz, M. B., Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. Blood 2010. **116**: e74-80.

7 **Weber, C. and Noels, H.**, Atherosclerosis: current pathogenesis and therapeutic options. Nat Med 2011. **17**: 1410-1422.

8 **Rosenberg, H. F., Dyer, K. D. and Foster, P. S.,** Eosinophils: changing perspectives in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2013. **13**: 9-22.

**Siracusa, M. C., Perrigoue, J. G., Comeau, M. R. and Artis, D.,** New paradigms in basophil development, regulation and function. Immunol Cell Biol 2010. **88**: 275-284.

**Voehringer, D.,** Protective and pathological roles of mast cells and basophils. Nat Rev Immunol 2013. **13**: 362-375.

**Nemazee, D.,** Receptor editing in lymphocyte development and central tolerance. Nat Rev Immunol 2006. **6**: 728-740.

Li, P., Spolski, R., Liao, W. and Leonard, W. J., Complex interactions of transcription factors in mediating cytokine biology in T cells. Immunol Rev 2014.
261: 141-156.

**Ober, C. and Yao, T. C.,** The genetics of asthma and allergic disease: a 21st century perspective. Immunol Rev 2011. **242**: 10-30.

**Paul, W. E.,** What determines Th2 differentiation, in vitro and in vivo? Immunol Cell Biol 2010. **88**: 236-239.

Jabeen, R. and Kaplan, M. H., The symphony of the ninth: the development and function of Th9 cells. Curr Opin Immunol 2012. **24**: 303-307.

**Schmitt, E., Klein, M. and Bopp, T.,** Th9 cells, new players in adaptive immunity. Trends Immunol 2014. **35**: 61-68.

**Kaplan, M. H., Hufford, M. M. and Olson, M. R.**, The development and in vivo function of T helper 9 cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2015. **15**: 295-307.

**Chen, Z., Laurence, A. and O'Shea, J. J.,** Signal transduction pathways and transcriptional regulation in the control of Th17 differentiation. Semin Immunol 2007. **19**: 400-408.

19 Patel, D. D. and Kuchroo, V. K., Th17 Cell Pathway in Human Immunity: Lessons from Genetics and Therapeutic Interventions. Immunity 2015. 43: 1040-1051.

20 **Crotty, S.,** T follicular helper cell differentiation, function, and roles in disease. Immunity 2014. **41**: 529-542.

Ma, C. S., Avery, D. T., Chan, A., Batten, M., Bustamante, J., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Arkwright, P. D., Kreins, A. Y., Averbuch, D., Engelhard, D.,
Magdorf, K., Kilic, S. S., Minegishi, Y., Nonoyama, S., French, M. A., Choo,
S., Smart, J. M., Peake, J., Wong, M., Gray, P., Cook, M. C., Fulcher, D. A.,
Casanova, J. L., Deenick, E. K. and Tangye, S. G., Functional STAT3
deficiency compromises the generation of human T follicular helper cells. Blood
2012.

22 Stone, E. L., Pepper, M., Katayama, C. D., Kerdiles, Y. M., Lai, C. Y., Emslie, E., Lin, Y. C., Yang, E., Goldrath, A. W., Li, M. O., Cantrell, D. A. and Hedrick, S. M., ICOS coreceptor signaling inactivates the transcription factor FOXO1 to promote TFH cell differentiation. Immunity 2015. **42**: 239-251.

Liu, X., Chen, X., Zhong, B., Wang, A., Wang, X., Chu, F., Nurieva, R.
I., Yan, X., Chen, P., van der Flier, L. G., Nakatsukasa, H., Neelapu, S. S.,
Chen, W., Clevers, H., Tian, Q., Qi, H., Wei, L. and Dong, C., Transcription
factor achaete-scute homologue 2 initiates follicular T-helper-cell development.
Nature 2014. 507: 513-518.

Bollig, N., Brustle, A., Kellner, K., Ackermann, W., Abass, E., Raifer,
H., Camara, B., Brendel, C., Giel, G., Bothur, E., Huber, M., Paul, C., Elli, A.,

**Kroczek, R. A., Nurieva, R., Dong, C., Jacob, R., Mak, T. W. and Lohoff, M.,** Transcription factor IRF4 determines germinal center formation through follicular T-helper cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012. **109**: 8664-8669.

Ise, W., Kohyama, M., Schraml, B. U., Zhang, T., Schwer, B., Basu, U., Alt, F. W., Tang, J., Oltz, E. M., Murphy, T. L. and Murphy, K. M., The transcription factor BATF controls the global regulators of class-switch recombination in both B cells and T cells. Nat Immunol 2011. 12: 536-543.

26 Bauquet, A. T., Jin, H., Paterson, A. M., Mitsdoerffer, M., Ho, I. C., Sharpe, A. H. and Kuchroo, V. K., The costimulatory molecule ICOS regulates the expression of c-Maf and IL-21 in the development of follicular T helper cells and TH-17 cells. Nat Immunol 2009. **10**: 167-175.

27 Weinstein, J. S., Hernandez, S. G. and Craft, J., T cells that promote B-Cell maturation in systemic autoimmunity. Immunol Rev 2012. **247**: 160-171.

28 Li, X. and Zheng, Y., Regulatory T cell identity: formation and maintenance. Trends Immunol 2015. **36**: 344-353.

29 **Luo, C. T. and Li, M. O.,** Transcriptional control of regulatory T cell development and function. Trends Immunol 2013. **34**: 531-539.

30 **De Silva, N. S. and Klein, U.**, Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres. Nat Rev Immunol 2015. **15**: 137-148.

**Fazilleau, N., McHeyzer-Williams, L. J., Rosen, H. and McHeyzer-Williams, M. G.,** The function of follicular helper T cells is regulated by the strength of T cell antigen receptor binding. Nat Immunol 2009. **10**: 375-384.

32 Heesters, B. A., Myers, R. C. and Carroll, M. C., Follicular dendritic cells: dynamic antigen libraries. Nat Rev Immunol 2014. **14**: 495-504.

33 **Chan, T. D. and Brink, R.,** Affinity-based selection and the germinal center response. Immunol Rev 2012. **247**: 11-23.

34 **Cannons, J. L., Tangye, S. G. and Schwartzberg, P. L.,** SLAM family receptors and SAP adaptors in immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 2011. **29**: 665-705.

35 **Ueno, H., Banchereau, J. and Vinuesa, C. G.,** Pathophysiology of T follicular helper cells in humans and mice. Nat Immunol 2015. **16**: 142-152.

36 Nishimura, H., Nose, M., Hiai, H., Minato, N. and Honjo, T.,

Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. Immunity 1999. **11**: 141-151.

37 **Benson, M. J., Erickson, L. D., Gleeson, M. W. and Noelle, R. J.,** Affinity of antigen encounter and other early B-cell signals determine B-cell fate. Curr Opin Immunol 2007. **19**: 275-280.

38 Victora, G. D. and Mesin, L., Clonal and cellular dynamics in germinal centers. Curr Opin Immunol 2014. **28**: 90-96.

39 Victora, G. D. and Nussenzweig, M. C., Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol 2012. **30**: 429-457.

Liu, D., Xu, H., Shih, C., Wan, Z., Ma, X., Ma, W., Luo, D. and Qi, H., T-B-cell entanglement and ICOSL-driven feed-forward regulation of germinal centre reaction. Nature 2015. **517**: 214-218.

41 **Corthesy, B.,** Role of secretory IgA in infection and maintenance of homeostasis. Autoimmun Rev 2013. **12**: 661-665.

Fazilleau, N., Mark, L., McHeyzer-Williams, L. J. and McHeyzerWilliams, M. G., Follicular helper T cells: lineage and location. Immunity 2009.
30: 324-335.

43 **Tangye, S. G., Ma, C. S., Brink, R. and Deenick, E. K.,** The good, the bad and the ugly - TFH cells in human health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2013. **13**: 412-426.

44 **Basso, K. and Dalla-Favera, R.,** Roles of BCL6 in normal and transformed germinal center B cells. Immunol Rev 2012. **247**: 172-183.

45 **Oestreich, K. J., Huang, A. C. and Weinmann, A. S.,** The lineagedefining factors Tbet and Bcl-6 collaborate to regulate Th1 gene expression patterns. J Exp Med 2011. **208**: 1001-1013.

**Qi, H., Liu, D., Ma, W., Wang, Y. and Yan, H.,** Bcl-6 controlled TFH polarization and memory: the known unknowns. Curr Opin Immunol 2014. **28**: 34-41.

47 Yu, D., Rao, S., Tsai, L. M., Lee, S. K., He, Y., Sutcliffe, E. L.,

Srivastava, M., Linterman, M., Zheng, L., Simpson, N., Ellyard, J. I., Parish, I. A., Ma, C. S., Li, Q. J., Parish, C. R., Mackay, C. R. and Vinuesa, C. G., The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. Immunity 2009. **31**: 457-468.

Baumjohann, D., Kageyama, R., Clingan, J. M., Morar, M. M., Patel, S.,
de Kouchkovsky, D., Bannard, O., Bluestone, J. A., Matloubian, M., Ansel,
K. M. and Jeker, L. T., The microRNA cluster miR-17 approximately 92

promotes TFH cell differentiation and represses subset-inappropriate gene expression. Nat Immunol 2013. **14**: 840-848.

49 Liao, W., Spolski, R., Li, P., Du, N., West, E. E., Ren, M., Mitra, S. and Leonard, W. J., Opposing actions of IL-2 and IL-21 on Th9 differentiation correlate with their differential regulation of BCL6 expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014. **111**: 3508-3513.

50 Choi, Y. S., Kageyama, R., Eto, D., Escobar, T. C., Johnston, R. J., Monticelli, L., Lao, C. and Crotty, S., ICOS receptor instructs T follicular helper cell versus effector cell differentiation via induction of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. Immunity 2011. **34**: 932-946.

Johnston, R. J., Choi, Y. S., Diamond, J. A., Yang, J. A. and Crotty, S., STAT5 is a potent negative regulator of TFH cell differentiation. J Exp Med 2012. **209**: 243-250.

52 **Egwuagu, C. E.,** STAT3 in CD4+ T helper cell differentiation and inflammatory diseases. Cytokine 2009. **47**: 149-156.

Kane, A., Deenick, E. K., Ma, C. S., Cook, M. C., Uzel, G. and Tangye,
S. G., STAT3 is a central regulator of lymphocyte differentiation and function.
Curr Opin Immunol 2014. 28: 49-57.

54 Stritesky, G. L., Muthukrishnan, R., Sehra, S., Goswami, R., Pham, D., Travers, J., Nguyen, E. T., Levy, D. E. and Kaplan, M. H., The transcription factor STAT3 is required for T helper 2 cell development. Immunity 2011. **34**: 39-49. 55 Nurieva, R. I., Chung, Y., Hwang, D., Yang, X. O., Kang, H. S., Ma, L., Wang, Y. H., Watowich, S. S., Jetten, A. M., Tian, Q. and Dong, C.,

Generation of T follicular helper cells is mediated by interleukin-21 but independent of T helper 1, 2, or 17 cell lineages. Immunity 2008. **29**: 138-149.

56 Ray, J. P., Marshall, H. D., Laidlaw, B. J., Staron, M. M., Kaech, S. M. and Craft, J., Transcription factor STAT3 and type I interferons are corepressive insulators for differentiation of follicular helper and T helper 1 cells. Immunity 2014. **40**: 367-377.

57 **Choi, Y. S., Eto, D., Yang, J. A., Lao, C. and Crotty, S.,** Cutting Edge: STAT1 Is Required for IL-6-Mediated Bcl6 Induction for Early Follicular Helper Cell Differentiation. J Immunol 2013.

58 Vinuesa, C. G., Linterman, M. A., Goodnow, C. C. and Randall, K. L., T cells and follicular dendritic cells in germinal center B-cell formation and selection. Immunol Rev 2010. **237**: 72-89.

59 **Steinke, J. W. and Borish, L.,** Th2 cytokines and asthma. Interleukin-4: its role in the pathogenesis of asthma, and targeting it for asthma treatment with interleukin-4 receptor antagonists. Respir Res 2001. **2**: 66-70.

60 Chung, Y., Tanaka, S., Chu, F., Nurieva, R. I., Martinez, G. J., Rawal, S., Wang, Y. H., Lim, H., Reynolds, J. M., Zhou, X. H., Fan, H. M., Liu, Z. M., Neelapu, S. S. and Dong, C., Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. Nat Med 2011. **17**: 983-988.

61 Linterman, M. A., Pierson, W., Lee, S. K., Kallies, A., Kawamoto, S., Rayner, T. F., Srivastava, M., Divekar, D. P., Beaton, L., Hogan, J. J.,

**Fagarasan, S., Liston, A., Smith, K. G. and Vinuesa, C. G.,** Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. Nat Med 2011. **17**: 975-982.

Wollenberg, I., Agua-Doce, A., Hernandez, A., Almeida, C., Oliveira, V.
G., Faro, J. and Graca, L., Regulation of the germinal center reaction by Foxp3+
follicular regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2011. 187: 4553-4560.

Sage, P. T., Alvarez, D., Godec, J., von Andrian, U. H. and Sharpe, A.
H., Circulating T follicular regulatory and helper cells have memory-like
properties. J Clin Invest 2014. 124: 5191-5204.

64 **Sage, P. T., Francisco, L. M., Carman, C. V. and Sharpe, A. H.,** The receptor PD-1 controls follicular regulatory T cells in the lymph nodes and blood. Nat Immunol 2013. **14**: 152-161.

65 Crotty, S., Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol 2011.29: 621-663.

66 **Crotty, S., Johnston, R. J. and Schoenberger, S. P.,** Effectors and memories: Bcl-6 and Blimp-1 in T and B lymphocyte differentiation. Nat Immunol 2010. **11**: 114-120.

67 McHeyzer-Williams, L. J., Pelletier, N., Mark, L., Fazilleau, N. and McHeyzer-Williams, M. G., Follicular helper T cells as cognate regulators of B cell immunity. Curr Opin Immunol 2009.

68 **Linterman, M. A. and Vinuesa, C. G.**, Signals that influence T follicular helper cell differentiation and function. Semin Immunopathol 2010.

Vinuesa, C. G., Cook, M. C., Angelucci, C., Athanasopoulos, V., Rui, L., Hill, K. M., Yu, D., Domaschenz, H., Whittle, B., Lambe, T., Roberts, I. S., Copley, R. R., Bell, J. I., Cornall, R. J. and Goodnow, C. C., A RING-type ubiquitin ligase family member required to repress follicular helper T cells and autoimmunity. Nature 2005. 435: 452-458.

Linterman, M. A., Rigby, R. J., Wong, R. K., Yu, D., Brink, R.,
Cannons, J. L., Schwartzberg, P. L., Cook, M. C., Walters, G. D. and
Vinuesa, C. G., Follicular helper T cells are required for systemic autoimmunity.
J Exp Med 2009. 206: 561-576.

Odegard, J. M., Marks, B. R., DiPlacido, L. D., Poholek, A. C., Kono, D.
H., Dong, C., Flavell, R. A. and Craft, J., ICOS-dependent extrafollicular helper
T cells elicit IgG production via IL-21 in systemic autoimmunity. J Exp Med 2008.
205: 2873-2886.

Nurieva, R. I., Chung, Y., Martinez, G. J., Yang, X. O., Tanaka, S.,
 Matskevitch, T. D., Wang, Y. H. and Dong, C., Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. Science 2009. 325: 1001-1005.

Johnston, R. J., Poholek, A. C., DiToro, D., Yusuf, I., Eto, D., Barnett,
B., Dent, A. L., Craft, J. and Crotty, S., Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. Science 2009.
325: 1006-1010.

74 Schmitt, N., Liu, Y., Bentebibel, S. E., Munagala, I., Bourdery, L., Venuprasad, K., Banchereau, J. and Ueno, H., The cytokine TGF-beta co-opts signaling via STAT3-STAT4 to promote the differentiation of human TFH cells. Nat Immunol 2014. **15**: 856-865.

Ma, C. S., Suryani, S., Avery, D. T., Chan, A., Nanan, R., SantnerNanan, B., Deenick, E. K. and Tangye, S. G., Early commitment of naive
human CD4(+) T cells to the T follicular helper (T(FH)) cell lineage is induced by
IL-12. Immunol Cell Biol 2009. 87: 590-600.

Nakayamada, S., Kanno, Y., Takahashi, H., Jankovic, D., Lu, K. T.,
Johnson, T. A., Sun, H. W., Vahedi, G., Hakim, O., Handon, R.,
Schwartzberg, P. L., Hager, G. L. and O'Shea, J. J., Early Th1 Cell
Differentiation Is Marked by a TFH Cell-like Transition. Immunity 2011. 35: 919-931.

Ma, C. S., Avery, D. T., Chan, A., Batten, M., Bustamante, J., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Arkwright, P. D., Kreins, A. Y., Averbuch, D., Engelhard, D.,
Magdorf, K., Kilic, S. S., Minegishi, Y., Nonoyama, S., French, M. A., Choo,
S., Smart, J. M., Peake, J., Wong, M., Gray, P., Cook, M. C., Fulcher, D. A.,
Casanova, J. L., Deenick, E. K. and Tangye, S. G., Functional STAT3
deficiency compromises the generation of human T follicular helper cells. Blood
2012. 119: 3997-4008.

Nakayamada, S., Poholek, A. C., Lu, K. T., Takahashi, H., Kato, M.,
Iwata, S., Hirahara, K., Cannons, J. L., Schwartzberg, P. L., Vahedi, G., Sun,
H. W., Kanno, Y. and O'Shea, J. J., Type I IFN Induces Binding of STAT1 to
Bcl6: Divergent Roles of STAT Family Transcription Factors in the T Follicular
Helper Cell Genetic Program. J Immunol 2014.

79 **Choi, Y. S., Eto, D., Yang, J. A., Lao, C. and Crotty, S.**, Cutting edge: STAT1 is required for IL-6-mediated Bcl6 induction for early follicular helper cell differentiation. J Immunol 2013. **190**: 3049-3053.

Akaishi, H., Takeda, K., Kaisho, T., Shineha, R., Satomi, S., Takeda, J. and Akira, S., Defective IL-2-mediated IL-2 receptor alpha chain expression in STAT3-deficient T lymphocytes. Int Immunol 1998. **10**: 1747-1751.

Takeda, K., Kaisho, T., Yoshida, N., Takeda, J., Kishimoto, T. and Akira, S., STAT3 activation is responsible for IL-6-dependent T cell proliferation through preventing apoptosis: generation and characterization of T cell-specific STAT3-deficient mice. J Immunol 1998. **161**: 4652-4660.

Chen, Z., Laurence, A., Kanno, Y., Pacher-Zavisin, M., Zhu, B. M.,
Tato, C., Yoshimura, A., Hennighausen, L. and O'Shea, J. J., Selective
regulatory function of Socs3 in the formation of IL-17-secreting T cells. Proc Natl
Acad Sci U S A 2006. 103: 8137-8142.

Laurence, A., Tato, C. M., Davidson, T. S., Kanno, Y., Chen, Z., Yao,
Z., Blank, R. B., Meylan, F., Siegel, R., Hennighausen, L., Shevach, E. M. and
O'Shea J, J., Interleukin-2 signaling via STAT5 constrains T helper 17 cell
generation. Immunity 2007. 26: 371-381.

Mathur, A. N., Chang, H. C., Zisoulis, D. G., Stritesky, G. L., Yu, Q., O'Malley, J. T., Kapur, R., Levy, D. E., Kansas, G. S. and Kaplan, M. H., STAT3 and STAT4 direct development of IL-17-secreting Th cells. J Immunol 2007. **178**: 4901-4907. Wei, L., Laurence, A., Elias, K. M. and O'Shea, J. J., IL-21 is produced by Th17 cells and drives IL-17 production in a STAT3-dependent manner. J Biol Chem 2007. **282**: 34605-34610.

Yang, X. O., Panopoulos, A. D., Nurieva, R., Chang, S. H., Wang, D.,
Watowich, S. S. and Dong, C., STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. J Biol Chem 2007. 282: 9358-9363.

87 **Cui, W., Liu, Y., Weinstein, J. S., Craft, J. and Kaech, S. M.**, An interleukin-21-interleukin-10-STAT3 pathway is critical for functional maturation of memory CD8+ T cells. Immunity 2011. **35**: 792-805.

Siegel, A. M., Heimall, J., Freeman, A. F., Hsu, A. P., Brittain, E.,
Brenchley, J. M., Douek, D. C., Fahle, G. H., Cohen, J. I., Holland, S. M. and
Milner, J. D., A Critical Role for STAT3 Transcription Factor Signaling in the
Development and Maintenance of Human T Cell Memory. Immunity 2011. 35:
806-818.

Chaudhry, A., Rudra, D., Treuting, P., Samstein, R. M., Liang, Y., Kas,
A. and Rudensky, A. Y., CD4+ regulatory T cells control TH17 responses in a
STAT3-dependent manner. Science 2009. 326: 986-991.

Durant, L., Watford, W. T., Ramos, H. L., Laurence, A., Vahedi, G.,
Wei, L., Takahashi, H., Sun, H. W., Kanno, Y., Powrie, F. and O'Shea, J. J.,
Diverse targets of the transcription factor STAT3 contribute to T cell
pathogenicity and homeostasis. Immunity 2010. 32: 605-615.

91 Holland, S. M., DeLeo, F. R., Elloumi, H. Z., Hsu, A. P., Uzel, G., Brodsky, N., Freeman, A. F., Demidowich, A., Davis, J., Turner, M. L.,
Anderson, V. L., Darnell, D. N., Welch, P. A., Kuhns, D. B., Frucht, D. M., Malech, H. L., Gallin, J. I., Kobayashi, S. D., Whitney, A. R., Voyich, J. M., Musser, J. M., Woellner, C., Schaffer, A. A., Puck, J. M. and Grimbacher, B., STAT3 mutations in the hyper-IgE syndrome. N Engl J Med 2007. **357**: 1608-1619.

Steward-Tharp, S. M., Laurence, A., Kanno, Y., Kotlyar, A., Villarino,
A. V., Sciume, G., Kuchen, S., Resch, W., Wohlfert, E. A., Jiang, K.,
Hirahara, K., Vahedi, G., Sun, H. W., Feigenbaum, L., Milner, J. D., Holland,
S. M., Casellas, R., Powrie, F. and O'Shea, J. J., A mouse model of HIES
reveals pro- and anti-inflammatory functions of STAT3. Blood 2014. 123: 2978-2987.

Hollister, K., Wu, H., Kusam, S., Clegg, N., Mondal, A., Sawant, D. V.
and Dent, A., Insights into the Role of Bcl6 in Follicular Helper T Cells Using a
New Conditional Mutant Mouse Model. J Immunol 2013. 191: 3705-3711

94 Sawant, D. V., Wu, H., Yao, W., Sehra, S., Kaplan, M. H. and Dent, A.
L., The Transcriptional Repressor Bcl6 Controls the Stability of Regulatory T cells
by Intrinsic and Extrinsic Pathways. Immunology 2014.

95 **Kusam, S., Toney, L. M., Sato, H. and Dent, A. L.,** Inhibition of Th2 differentiation and GATA-3 expression by BCL-6. J Immunol 2003. **170**: 2435-2441.

Sawant, D. V., Sehra, S., Nguyen, E. T., Jadhav, R., Englert, K.,
Shinnakasu, R., Hangoc, G., Broxmeyer, H. E., Nakayama, T., Perumal, N.
B., Kaplan, M. H. and Dent, A. L., Bcl6 controls the Th2 inflammatory activity of

regulatory T cells by repressing Gata3 function. J Immunol 2012. **189**: 4759-4769.

Harada, Y., Tanaka, S., Motomura, Y., Harada, Y., Ohno, S., Ohno, S.,
Yanagi, Y., Inoue, H. and Kubo, M., The 3' enhancer CNS2 is a critical regulator of interleukin-4-mediated humoral immunity in follicular helper T cells. Immunity 2012. 36: 188-200.

Vijayanand, P., Seumois, G., Simpson, L. J., Abdul-Wajid, S., Baumjohann, D., Panduro, M., Huang, X., Interlandi, J., Djuretic, I. M.,

**Brown, D. R., Sharpe, A. H., Rao, A. and Ansel, K. M.,** Interleukin-4 production by follicular helper T cells requires the conserved II4 enhancer hypersensitivity site V. Immunity 2012. **36**: 175-187.

99 **Stritesky, G. L., Yeh, N. and Kaplan, M. H.,** IL-23 promotes maintenance but not commitment to the Th17 lineage. J Immunol 2008. **181**: 5948-5955.

Loffler, D., Brocke-Heidrich, K., Pfeifer, G., Stocsits, C., Hackermuller, J., Kretzschmar, A. K., Burger, R., Gramatzki, M., Blumert, C., Bauer, K., Cvijic, H., Ullmann, A. K., Stadler, P. F. and Horn, F., Interleukin-6 dependent survival of multiple myeloma cells involves the STAT3-mediated induction of microRNA-21 through a highly conserved enhancer. Blood 2007. **110**: 1330-1333.

101 McHeyzer-Williams, L. J., Pelletier, N., Mark, L., Fazilleau, N. and McHeyzer-Williams, M. G., Follicular helper T cells as cognate regulators of B cell immunity. Curr Opin Immunol 2009. **21**: 266-273.

102 Breitfeld, D., Ohl, L., Kremmer, E., Ellwart, J., Sallusto, F., Lipp, M. and Forster, R., Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production. J Exp Med 2000. **192**: 1545-1552.

103 Schaerli, P., Willimann, K., Lang, A. B., Lipp, M., Loetscher, P. and Moser, B., CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function. J Exp Med 2000. **192**: 1553-1562.

Vaeth, M., Muller, G., Stauss, D., Dietz, L., Klein-Hessling, S., Serfling,
E., Lipp, M., Berberich, I. and Berberich-Siebelt, F., Follicular regulatory T
cells control humoral autoimmunity via NFAT2-regulated CXCR5 expression. J
Exp Med 2014. 211: 545-561.

105 **Sage, P. T., Tan, C. L., Freeman, G. J., Haigis, M. and Sharpe, A. H.,** Defective TFH Cell Function and Increased TFR Cells Contribute to Defective Antibody Production in Aging. Cell Rep 2015. **12**: 163-171.

106 **Leon, B., Bradley, J. E., Lund, F. E., Randall, T. D. and Ballesteros-Tato, A.,** FoxP3+ regulatory T cells promote influenza-specific TFH responses by controlling IL-2 availability. Nat Commun 2014. **5**: 3495.

107 **Sage, P. T., Paterson, A. M., Lovitch, S. B. and Sharpe, A. H.,** The coinhibitory receptor CTLA-4 controls B cell responses by modulating T follicular helper, T follicular regulatory, and T regulatory cells. Immunity 2014. **41**: 1026-1039.

108 Hollister, K., Kusam, S., Wu, H., Clegg, N., Mondal, A., Sawant, D. V. and Dent, A. L., Insights into the role of Bcl6 in follicular Th cells using a new conditional mutant mouse model. J Immunol 2013. **191**: 3705-3711.

Rubtsov, Y. P., Rasmussen, J. P., Chi, E. Y., Fontenot, J., Castelli, L.,
Ye, X., Treuting, P., Siewe, L., Roers, A., Henderson, W. R., Jr., Muller, W.
and Rudensky, A. Y., Regulatory T cell-derived interleukin-10 limits
inflammation at environmental interfaces. Immunity 2008. 28: 546-558.

Hollister, K., Chen, Y., Wang, S., Wu, H., Mondal, A., Clegg, N., Lu, S.
and Dent, A., The role of follicular helper T cells and the germinal center in HIV1 gp120 DNA prime and gp120 protein boost vaccination. Hum Vaccin
Immunother 2014. 10: 1985-1992.

111 Wang, S., Arthos, J., Lawrence, J. M., Van Ryk, D., Mboudjeka, I., Shen, S., Chou, T. H., Montefiori, D. C. and Lu, S., Enhanced immunogenicity of gp120 protein when combined with recombinant DNA priming to generate antibodies that neutralize the JR-FL primary isolate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 2005. **79**: 7933-7937.

112 **Wu, H., Xu, L. L., Teuscher, P., Liu, H., Kaplan, M. H. and Dent, A. L.,** An Inhibitory Role for the Transcription Factor STAT3 in Controlling IL-4 and Bcl6 Expression in Follicular Helper T Cells. J Immunol 2015. **195**: 2080-2089.

Nurieva, R. I., Podd, A., Chen, Y., Alekseev, A. M., Yu, M., Qi, X.,
Huang, H., Wen, R., Wang, J., Li, H. S., Watowich, S. S., Qi, H., Dong, C. and
Wang, D., STAT5 protein negatively regulates T follicular helper (TFH) cell
generation and function. J Biol Chem 2012. 287: 11234-11239.

Ballesteros-Tato, A., Leon, B., Graf, B. A., Moquin, A., Adams, P. S.,
Lund, F. E. and Randall, T. D., Interleukin-2 Inhibits Germinal Center Formation
by Limiting T Follicular Helper Cell Differentiation. Immunity 2012.

115 Locci, M., Havenar-Daughton, C., Landais, E., Wu, J., Kroenke, M. A.,

Arlehamn, C. L., Su, L. F., Cubas, R., Davis, M. M., Sette, A., Haddad, E. K.,

Poignard, P. and Crotty, S., Human circulating PD-(+)1CXCR3(-)CXCR5(+)

memory TFH cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. Immunity 2013. **39**: 758-769.

116 Seth, S., Ravens, I., Kremmer, E., Maier, M. K., Hadis, U., Hardtke, S., Forster, R. and Bernhardt, G., Abundance of follicular helper T cells in Peyer's patches is modulated by CD155. Eur J Immunol 2009. **39**: 3160-3170.

117 Joller, N., Lozano, E., Burkett, P. R., Patel, B., Xiao, S., Zhu, C., Xia, J.,

Tan, T. G., Sefik, E., Yajnik, V., Sharpe, A. H., Quintana, F. J., Mathis, D.,

**Benoist, C., Hafler, D. A. and Kuchroo, V. K.,** Treg cells expressing the coinhibitory molecule TIGIT selectively inhibit proinflammatory Th1 and Th17 cell responses. Immunity 2014. **40**: 569-581.

Sawant, D. V., Wu, H., Yao, W., Sehra, S., Kaplan, M. H. and Dent, A.
L., The transcriptional repressor Bcl6 controls the stability of regulatory T cells by intrinsic and extrinsic pathways. Immunology 2015. 145: 11-23.

119 **Dent, A. L., Shaffer, A. L., Yu, X., Allman, D. and Staudt, L. M.,** Control of inflammation, cytokine expression, and germinal center formation by BCL-6. Science 1997. **276**: 589-592.

120 Valencia, X., Yarboro, C., Illei, G. and Lipsky, P. E., Deficient CD4+CD25high T regulatory cell function in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol 2007. **178**: 2579-2588.

121 Bonelli, M., Smolen, J. S. and Scheinecker, C., Treg and lupus. Ann Rheum Dis 2010. 69 Suppl 1: i65-66.

Satoh, M. and Reeves, W. H., Induction of lupus-associated
autoantibodies in BALB/c mice by intraperitoneal injection of pristane. J Exp Med
1994. 180: 2341-2346.

Richards, H. B., Satoh, M., Shaw, M., Libert, C., Poli, V. and Reeves,
W. H., Interleukin 6 dependence of anti-DNA antibody production: evidence for two pathways of autoantibody formation in pristane-induced lupus. J Exp Med 1998. 188: 985-990.

124 **Pandiyan, P. and Lenardo, M. J.,** The control of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell survival. Biol Direct 2008. **3**: 6.

125 **Wang, J., Wicker, L. S. and Santamaria, P.,** IL-2 and its high-affinity receptor: genetic control of immunoregulation and autoimmunity. Semin Immunol 2009. **21**: 363-371.

126 **Zotos, D. and Tarlinton, D. M.,** Determining germinal centre B cell fate. Trends Immunol 2012. **33**: 281-288.

127 Ozaki, K., Spolski, R., Feng, C. G., Qi, C. F., Cheng, J., Sher, A.,

Morse, H. C., 3rd, Liu, C., Schwartzberg, P. L. and Leonard, W. J., A critical role for IL-21 in regulating immunoglobulin production. Science 2002. **298**: 1630-1634.

Grammer, A. C., Slota, R., Fischer, R., Gur, H., Girschick, H., Yarboro,
C., Illei, G. G. and Lipsky, P. E., Abnormal germinal center reactions in systemic
lupus erythematosus demonstrated by blockade of CD154-CD40 interactions. J
Clin Invest 2003. 112: 1506-1520.

129 **Perry, D., Sang, A., Yin, Y., Zheng, Y.-Y. and Morel, L.**, Murine Models of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology 2011. **2011**.

Lee, S. K., Silva, D. G., Martin, J. L., Pratama, A., Hu, X., Chang, P. P.,
Walters, G. and Vinuesa, C. G., Interferon-gamma excess leads to pathogenic accumulation of follicular helper T cells and germinal centers. Immunity 2012. 37: 880-892.

131 Sweet, R. A., Lee, S. K. and Vinuesa, C. G., Developing connections amongst key cytokines and dysregulated germinal centers in autoimmunity. Curr Opin Immunol 2012. 24: 658-664.

132 Miltenburg, A. M., Roos, A., Slegtenhorst, L., Daha, M. R. and Breedveld, F. C., IgA anti-dsDNA antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus: occurrence, incidence and association with clinical and laboratory variables of disease activity. J Rheumatol 1993. **20**: 53-58.

133 Villalta, D., Bizzaro, N., Bassi, N., Zen, M., Gatto, M., Ghirardello, A., Iaccarino, L., Punzi, L. and Doria, A., Anti-dsDNA antibody isotypes in systemic lupus erythematosus: IgA in addition to IgG anti-dsDNA help to identify glomerulonephritis and active disease. PLoS One 2013. 8: e71458.

**Zhu, J. and Paul, W. E.,** Peripheral CD4+ T-cell differentiation regulated
by networks of cytokines and transcription factors. Immunol Rev 2010. **238**: 247262.

Nakayamada, S., Poholek, A. C., Lu, K. T., Takahashi, H., Kato, M.,
Iwata, S., Hirahara, K., Cannons, J. L., Schwartzberg, P. L., Vahedi, G., Sun,
H. W., Kanno, Y. and O'Shea, J. J., Type I IFN induces binding of STAT1 to
Bcl6: divergent roles of STAT family transcription factors in the T follicular helper
cell genetic program. J Immunol 2014. **192**: 2156-2166.

136 **Hori, S., Nomura, T. and Sakaguchi, S.,** Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science 2003. **299**: 1057-1061.

137 Fontenot, J. D., Gavin, M. A. and Rudensky, A. Y., Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Nat Immunol 2003.
4: 330-336.

Koch, M. A., Tucker-Heard, G., Perdue, N. R., Killebrew, J. R., Urdahl,
K. B. and Campbell, D. J., The transcription factor Tbet controls regulatory T
cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation. Nat Immunol 2009. 10: 595-602.

139 Zheng, Y., Chaudhry, A., Kas, A., deRoos, P., Kim, J. M., Chu, T. T., Corcoran, L., Treuting, P., Klein, U. and Rudensky, A. Y., Regulatory T-cell suppressor program co-opts transcription factor IRF4 to control T(H)2 responses. Nature 2009. **458**: 351-356.

Ding, Y., Li, J., Yang, P., Luo, B., Wu, Q., Zajac, A. J., Wildner, O.,
Hsu, H. C. and Mountz, J. D., Interleukin-21 promotes germinal center reaction

by skewing the follicular regulatory T cell to follicular helper T cell balance in autoimmune BXD2 mice. Arthritis Rheumatol 2014. **66**: 2601-2612.

Lu, K. T., Kanno, Y., Cannons, J. L., Handon, R., Bible, P., Elkahloun,
A. G., Anderson, S. M., Wei, L., Sun, H., O'Shea, J. J. and Schwartzberg, P.
L., Functional and Epigenetic Studies Reveal Multistep Differentiation and
Plasticity of In Vitro-Generated and In Vivo-Derived Follicular T Helper Cells.
Immunity 2011.

142 **Kato, L. M., Kawamoto, S., Maruya, M. and Fagarasan, S.,** Gut TFH and IgA: key players for regulation of bacterial communities and immune homeostasis. Immunol Cell Biol 2014. **92**: 49-56.

Hirota, K., Turner, J. E., Villa, M., Duarte, J. H., Demengeot, J.,
Steinmetz, O. M. and Stockinger, B., Plasticity of Th17 cells in Peyer's patches is responsible for the induction of T cell-dependent IgA responses. Nat Immunol 2013. 14: 372-379.

Baumjohann, D., Preite, S., Reboldi, A., Ronchi, F., Ansel, K. M.,
Lanzavecchia, A. and Sallusto, F., Persistent antigen and germinal center B
cells sustain T follicular helper cell responses and phenotype. Immunity 2013. 38:
596-605.

145 Wu, H., Chen, Y., Liu, H., Xu, L. L., Teuscher, P., Wang, S., Lu, S. and Dent, A. L., Follicular regulatory T cells repress cytokine production by follicular helper T cells and optimize IgG responses in mice. Eur J Immunol 2016.

146 Tsuji, M., Komatsu, N., Kawamoto, S., Suzuki, K., Kanagawa, O.,Honjo, T., Hori, S. and Fagarasan, S., Preferential generation of follicular B

helper T cells from Foxp3+ T cells in gut Peyer's patches. Science 2009. **323**: 1488-1492.

147 Chaudhry, A. and Rudensky, A. Y., Control of inflammation by
integration of environmental cues by regulatory T cells. J Clin Invest 2013. 123:
939-944.

148 **Ramiscal, R. R. and Vinuesa, C. G.,** T-cell subsets in the germinal center. Immunol Rev 2013. **252**: 146-155.

149 **Asao, H., Okuyama, C., Kumaki, S., Ishii, N., Tsuchiya, S., Foster, D. and Sugamura, K.,** Cutting edge: the common gamma-chain is an indispensable subunit of the IL-21 receptor complex. J Immunol 2001. **167**: 1-5.

150 Kluger, M. A., Melderis, S., Nosko, A., Goerke, B., Luig, M., Meyer, M.

C., Turner, J. E., Meyer-Schwesinger, C., Wegscheid, C., Tiegs, G., Stahl, R.

**A.**, **Panzer**, **U.** and **Steinmetz**, **O. M.**, Treg17 cells are programmed by STAT3 to suppress Th17 responses in systemic lupus. Kidney Int 2015.

151 Kluger, M. A., Luig, M., Wegscheid, C., Goerke, B., Paust, H. J., Brix,

S. R., Yan, I., Mittrucker, H. W., Hagl, B., Renner, E. D., Tiegs, G., Wiech, T., Stahl, R. A., Panzer, U. and Steinmetz, O. M., STAT3 programs Th17-specific regulatory T cells to control GN. J Am Soc Nephrol 2014. 25: 1291-1302.

Raz, R., Lee, C. K., Cannizzaro, L. A., d'Eustachio, P. and Levy, D. E.,
Essential role of STAT3 for embryonic stem cell pluripotency. Proc Natl Acad Sci
U S A 1999. 96: 2846-2851.

153 **Reliene, R. and Schiestl, R. H.,** Differences in animal housing facilities and diet may affect study outcomes-a plea for inclusion of such information in publications. DNA Repair (Amst) 2006. **5**: 651-653.

Park, S. R., Seo, G. Y., Choi, A. J., Stavnezer, J. and Kim, P. H.,
Analysis of transforming growth factor-beta1-induced lg germ-line gamma2b
transcription and its implication for IgA isotype switching. Eur J Immunol 2005.
35: 946-956.

Kawamoto, S., Maruya, M., Kato, L. M., Suda, W., Atarashi, K., Doi, Y.,
Tsutsui, Y., Qin, H., Honda, K., Okada, T., Hattori, M. and Fagarasan, S.,
Foxp3(+) T cells regulate immunoglobulin a selection and facilitate diversification of bacterial species responsible for immune homeostasis. Immunity 2014. 41: 152-165.

156 Sahoo, A., Alekseev, A., Tanaka, K., Obertas, L., Lerman, B.,
Haymaker, C., Clise-Dwyer, K., McMurray, J. S. and Nurieva, R., Batf is
important for IL-4 expression in T follicular helper cells. Nat Commun 2015. 6:
7997.

#### **Curriculum Vitae**

Hao Wu

### Education

Indiana University, Indianapolis, Indiana, USA	
Ph.D. Immunology	2016
Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, Beijing, China	
M.S. Internal Medicine	2010
Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China	
B.S. Biological Technology	2007

# **Research Experience**

Dr. Alexander Dent laboratory, Indiana University School of Medicine
Graduate student, Department of Microbiology and Immunology 2011 - 2016
Dissertation: Regulation of the germinal center reaction by T helper cells and T regulatory cells.

# Dr. Zhongchao Han laboratory, Peking Union Medical College

Master Student, Institute of Hematology & Blood Disease Hospital 2007 - 2010 Thesis: Enhancement of all-trans retinoic acid induced HL-60 leukemia cell differentiation by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell.

#### Publications

**Wu H**, Xie MM, Liu H, Dent AL. Stat3 is Important for Follicular Regulatory T Cells Differentiation. PLoS One. 2016 May 5;11(5):e0155040.

Wu H, Chen Y, Liu H, Xu LL, Teuscher P, Wang S, Lu S, Dent AL. Follicular

Regulatory T cells Repress Cytokine Production by Follicular Helper T cells and

Optimize IgG Responses in mice. Eur J Immunol. 2016 May;46(5):1152-61.

Awe O, Hufford MM, Wu H, Pham D, Chang HC, Jabeen R, Dent AL, Kaplan

MH. PU.1 Expression in T Follicular Helper Cells Limits CD40L-Dependent

Germinal Center B Cell Development. J Immunol. 2015 Oct 15;195(8):3705-15.

**Wu H**, Xu LL, Teuscher P, Liu H, Kaplan MH, Dent AL. An Inhibitory Role for the Transcription Factor Stat3 in Controlling IL-4 and Bcl6 Expression in Follicular Helper T Cells. J Immunol. 2015 Sep 1;195(5):2080-9.

Sawant DV, **Wu H**, Yao W, Sehra S, Kaplan MH, Dent AL. The transcriptional repressor Bcl6 controls the stability of regulatory T cells by intrinsic and extrinsic pathways. Immunology. 2015 May;145(1):11-23.

Wang Z, Brandt S, Medeiros A, Wang S, **Wu H**, Dent AL, Serezani CH. MicroRNA 21 is a homeostatic regulator of macrophage polarization and prevents prostaglandin E2-mediated M2 generation. PLoS One. 2015 Feb 23;10(2):e0115855.

Hollister K, Chen Y, Wang S, **Wu H**, Mondal A, Clegg N, Lu S, Dent AL. The role of follicular helper T cells and the germinal center in HIV-1 gp120 DNA prime and gp120 protein boost vaccination. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2014;10(7):1985-92.

Hollister K, Kusam S, **Wu H**, Clegg N, Mondal A, Sawant DV, Dent AL. Insights into the role of Bcl6 in follicular Th cells using a new conditional mutant mouse model. J Immunol. 2013 Oct 1;191(7):3705-11.

Sawant DV, **Wu H**, Kaplan MH, Dent AL. The Bcl6 target gene microRNA-21 promotes Th2 differentiation by a T cell intrinsic pathway. Mol Immunol. 2013 Jul;54(3-4):435-42.

#### Honors and Awards

AAI Young Investigator Award, Autumn Immunology Conference	2015
Travel Award, Annual Meeting of the Federation of Clinical	
Immunology Societies (FOCIS)	2015
AAI Trainee Poster Award, American Association of Immunologists	
Annual Meeting	2013
Graduate Fellowship, Indiana University School of Medicine	
BioMedical Gateway (IBMG)	2010